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Business of Joint Committee

Chairman: We have a quorum and will commence in public session.  I propose we deal 
with housekeeping matters in private session.  Is that agreed?  Agreed.

The joint committee went into private session at 9.11 a.m. and resumed in public session at 
9.33 a.m.

National Paediatric Hospital Development Board: Chairperson Designate

Chairman: In our first session, we will meet Mr. Fred Barry in advance of his appointment 
as chairperson of the National Paediatric Hospital Development Board, NPHDB, and ask that 
he outline to us his strategic vision for his role.  On behalf of the committee, I welcome Mr. 
Barry to the committee and thank him for his attendance.  I draw his attention to the fact that, 
by virtue of section 17(2)(l) of the Defamation Act 2009, the witness is protected by absolute 
privilege in respect of his evidence to this committee.  However, if Mr. Barry is directed by the 
committee to cease giving evidence on a particular matter and he continues to do so, he is en-
titled thereafter only to a qualified privilege in respect of his evidence.  He is directed that only 
evidence connected with the subject matter of these proceedings is to be given and is asked to 
respect the parliamentary practice to the effect that, where possible, he should not criticise or 
make charges against any person, persons or entity by name or in such a way as to make him, 
her or it identifiable.  I also wish to advise him that any opening statement he has submitted to 
the committee may be published on the committee’s website after this meeting.

Members are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that they 
should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person outside the Houses or an of-
ficial either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.

I invite Mr. Barry to make his opening statement.

Mr. Fred Barry: I thank the committee for inviting me to address it.  I am here in my capac-
ity as chair designate of the NPHDB.

The development board has the remit to design, build and equip a new national children’s 
hospital on the campus shared with St. James’s Hospital and the two paediatric outpatients and 
urgent care centres on the Connolly Hospital Blanchardstown and Tallaght University Hospital 
campuses.  Considerable progress has been made on this remit to date.  The Connolly facility 
will open later this year and construction of the main hospital at St. James’s and of the Tallaght 
facility has commenced.  I acknowledge the contribution and personal commitment of my pre-
decessor, Mr. Tom Costello, in chairing the development board to this point.

My background is relevant to my proposed role.  I am a chartered engineer, with additional 
qualifications in management, law, arbitration and mediation.  I have worked internationally on 
the design and construction of many very large capital projects and was group managing direc-
tor for the UK and Ireland with Jacobs, one of the world’s largest engineering companies.  I 
worked in the public sector as chief executive of the National Roads Authority, NRA, at a time 
when we built much of the motorway network.  I have extensive board experience in both the 
private and public sectors.
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The new children’s hospital is not just another big infrastructure project.  It is much more 
than that.  It will be transformational for the care we give our children and young people, who 
represent approximately one quarter of our population.  I am honoured to be asked to play a role 
in its development and I look forward to working with the board of Children’s Health Ireland 
on this great national project.

I am happy to answer whatever questions the committee may have.

Chairman: I thank Mr. Barry.  I will open proceedings to members, starting with Deputy 
Donnelly.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I thank Mr. Barry for contacting the committee and appearing 
before us.  He has picked up the baton half way through the race, and it is a fraught race indeed.  
I wish him and his team the very best of luck.

Mr. Barry will be aware that there is serious public concern and widespread anger at the 
cost overruns from an initial declaration in 2016 of €650 million to a final Cabinet sign-off in 
2017 of €980 million, representing a 50% increase, from that €980 million to €1.4 billion the 
following year, which was 50% extra again, and an additional €300 million on top of that for 
commissioning, IT and so forth, bringing us up to €1.7 billion.  What is Mr. Barry’s position on 
this?  I appreciate that he is still chair designate and this will take time, but he is someone with 
significant experience in large capital programmes.  As the incoming chair, what is his view as 
to the cost of €1.7 billion?  Does he believe that it is an unavoidable and high cost for a complex 
project or that the cost has spiralled and it no longer represents a reasonable cost for that build-
ing?  If so, does Mr. Barry believe there are opportunities at this stage to bring the costs back 
down through an extensive value engineering exercise?  He may, of course, think none of those 
things.  What is his sense of where we are at with the current cost?  Is it reasonable and can it 
be brought back down?

Mr. Fred Barry: I caution everyone that my comments are based on limited knowledge 
since I have just come into the role.  Regarding the costs, I am not sure regarding the sum of 
€1.7 billion.  I am more familiar with what is involved in the approximately €1.4 billion for 
the build than I am for the other €300 million being incurred by the hospital operating entity.  I 
am not familiar with its cost structures.  Regarding the €1.4 billion, as far as I can judge - and 
much of this is in the public domain - what happened was an underestimation of the scope of 
the project at a very early stage.  That was compounded by initial tender documents for the 
construction, which did not properly pick up the full scope.  That led to prices coming in which 
did not represent what the cost would be.

In any circumstance, it would have been better to have had more of the total cost determined 
through competitive tendering rather than partially through competitive tendering and partially 
through subsequent negotiation.  We could argue the toss as to whether the price is exactly what 
it would have been if it had gone through competitive tender.  I do not think, however, that it 
would be significantly different from where it has ended.  When I was reviewing this with my 
future colleagues, I found that an independent expert signed off on many of the additional costs 
and adjudicated on them as fair and reasonable for the work involved.  What we are looking at 
here is a late recognition of the scope of the work and what it is going to cost, rather than a case 
of spending far too much on achieving the result that is to be obtained.  

On the question of reducing costs, a major value engineering exercise was carried out at the 
time of the original tender.  An ambitious target to save €70 million was set at the time and a 
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saving of about €20 million was achieved.  I know value engineering has also been carried out 
over the past few months examining further measures and some efforts are also being made at 
the moment.  We are now, however, in the area of diminishing returns.  There are no savings to 
be had that will significantly affect the headline figure.  The challenge in the next few years is 
to contain any growth in that figure.  The committee will be aware from previous evidence that 
there is a GMP with the contractor for the main construction elements.  There are, however, 
exclusions to that.  There is inflation, which is outside of our control completely.  That will be 
what it will be.  There may also be issues to be dealt with if there are scope changes as medical 
technology evolves over the next few years.  Regulatory changes may also affect aspects of the 
project.  

Our challenges, in reality, in the coming years centre on getting the hospital built.  It is a 
five-year programme to build and commission this project.  Thousands of people will be work-
ing on a constrained site and the challenge for me, the board and the executive will be getting 
the hospital built safely.  We do not want accidents on the site and that will be a key aspect.  
We also have to ensure we get the design and build quality we are entitled to get for the money 
being spent.  In addition, there is also the challenge of mitigating the impact of large-scale con-
struction on hospital operations and on the surrounding neighbourhood.  We are building in a 
busy neighbourhood.  We also have to procure a great deal of equipment and deliver it to the 
hospital, deal with the integration between ourselves and Children’s Hospital Ireland, as well 
as with all of the unexpected events that will occur over a five-year construction programme.  
Those are the areas where my focus, and that of the board, will be in the years to come.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I thank Mr. Barry.  Regarding eliminating or minimising fur-
ther error, does he foresee any changes in personnel within the management structure?  One of 
the things that struck me in the past two months is that in spite of the cost overruns, not a single 
person was fired and not a single person has had any HR sanction taken against him or her.  We 
were also told that not a single contract was changed and not a single company asked to step 
down, in spite of these massive and unprecedented cost overruns.  I am not asking for specifics, 
but as Mr. Barry comes into his role, does he foresee the need for any personnel changes?  Does 
he further foresee that some of the companies involved may need to be asked to step back?

In the same vein, I would like to draw on his considerable experience on another issue.  One 
of the other issues that jumped out at me from the increased costs was that one of the line items 
concerned the design team fees.  We have heard that there were significant cost underestima-
tions.  I have a different view as to what happened but that is the Government’s position.  We 
heard from people at this committee that quantities were greatly underestimated and so forth.  
My understanding is that some of the people who work in that area are within this design team.  
Seven companies are involved in that design team, including quantity surveyors, architects, me-
chanical and electrical engineers, etc.  In spite of this gross underestimation, and what appear 
to be major errors, not only were no members of the design team fired but it was agreed that 
the fees paid would jump from €44 million to €71 million.  That is in one year.  Not only was 
no one fired or penalised, therefore, their fees were almost doubled.  Given all of that, does Mr. 
Barry have a view regarding the design team, any of the other contractors involved or personnel 
at management level, where changes may need to be made?

Mr. Fred Barry: It would be a bit premature of me to make comments on any of the ques-
tions the Deputy asked for two reasons.  One is that I am still the chairperson designate and 
it would be completely improper for me to form particular views on the companies or people 
concerned when I am not even in the role yet.  The second is that we also have the PwC report 



13 MARCH 2019

5

coming in a matter of weeks.  I am looking forward to seeing what is in that and I am sure ev-
erybody else is as well.

Chairman: I thank Mr. Barry and I am going to move on, if that is okay?

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: That is fine.

Chairman: I call Senator Colm Burke.

Senator  Colm Burke: Last week, I had the privilege of participating in a conference call 
with three people involved in the development of a new 380-bed children’s hospital in On-
tario, Canada.  One of the issues there is that much work has to be done beforehand.  An office 
block of 22 storeys has to be built and all of the administration staff decanted into it.  All of the 
existing buildings then have to be demolished and the building of the new children’s hospital 
commenced.  One of the issues that arose during the conversation was the inflation in building 
costs in Toronto.  Building inflation there has gone up by 15% in 15 months.  It is increasing by 
approximately 1% per month.  

It is in that context that I wish to ask about the mechanism in respect of inflation contained 
in the contract for the national children’s hospital.  The project is not going to be finished until 
2022 or 2023.  We have a price that we are discussing now.  There are also, however, built-in 
issues regarding inflation.  I acknowledge Mr. Barry has only had a preliminary look at the situ-
ation, but what is the likelihood of inflation adding to the cost?  Can that be controlled?   I ask 
Mr. Barry to give the committee his view on what building inflation will be like in Ireland in the 
next three to four years.  That will be a factor regarding any major building project such as this.

Mr. Fred Barry: The contract has an inflation rate of 4% covered within it.  Inflation in 
excess of 4%, therefore, will lead to additional payments and costs.  As to the likelihood of that 
happening, a continuous rate of inflation in excess of 4% going on for another four or five years 
would be unusual.  If that happens, it will be because the economy continues to boom.  The 
inflation rates are high at the moment.  That is particularly the case regarding the skilled trades 
that will be needed for the construction of the hospital.  Many of them are the same as those 
needed for some of the major industrial developments.  There are some very big life sciences 
developments taking place in the country.  Many members will have seen that Intel has started 
a huge programme of work, while another is to follow hot on its heels if planning permission 
is received.  Therefore, there are many cost pressures.  Certainly, the construction inflation rate 
is running in excess of 4%.  Depending on whose measure one takes, the rate is probably about 
6% plus, but I would be surprised to see the rate of 6% continue for another four or five years, 
only because it would imply a very superheated economy during that period.  However, I do 
not know.

Senator  Colm Burke: Will Mr. Barry translate what he said?  He said the contract allows 
for an inflation rate of 4%.  Is that 4% per annum or 4% over the four years?

Mr. Fred Barry: It is 4% per annum.  If between the middle of this year and the middle of 
next year the rate of inflation were to be 5%, rather than 4%, there would be an extra 1% pay-
able in the moneys disbursed during that period.

Senator  Colm Burke: Which are agreed to.  If the rate were to be 6%-----

Mr. Fred Barry: Then there would be an extra 2% payable and so on.
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Senator  Colm Burke: Mr. Barry believes there will be some inflation over the four years, 
but he is not convinced that it will be more than 4%.

Mr. Fred Barry: I do not know.  I am sure economists are always very keen to make in-
flation rate forecasts, but they are no more accurate than the rest of us.  I do not know, but I 
do know that for the construction inflation rate to remain at a very high level in the period in 
question, it would require continuing very strong pressures in the marketplace.  If there are 
such pressures, it is because the country is doing exceptionally well, but I really cannot tell the 
Senator what the rate will be.

Senator  Colm Burke: This is one of the biggest healthcare projects in which we are en-
gaged.  It is nearly 20 years since we built a major medical facility, although we have extended 
medical facilities.  Does Mr. Barry envisage considering projects outside Ireland to ascertain 
how costs were controlled?  For instance, I considered Royal Manchester Children’s Hospital.  
It is a 370-bed unit which had cost €504 million in 2004 and took five years to build.  Does 
Mr. Barry plan to examine other projects to determine how we can best ensure there will be no 
further mistakes?

Mr. Fred Barry: From my role on the development board, once the user requirements are 
identified and the design is completed, the control methodologies used in managing the con-
struction are not very different from those used in developing any of the large manufacturing 
facilities around the country.  I will be looking at what has worked on other very large projects 
in Ireland.  I have worked on large projects in other places and I am not averse to taking lessons 
from anywhere.

Senator  Colm Burke: Is Mr. Barry concerned about any issue related to the site that may 
cause delays and which, in turn, will result in additional costs?

Mr. Fred Barry: There is no doubt that it is more difficult to work in a city site than a green-
field site.  That is certainly true on St. James’s Street, where the footprint of the hospital build-
ing occupies most of the land available.  There are no big lay-down spaces available around the 
site and there are no significant spaces available for stacking equipment and supplies.  That is a 
very definite constraint.  The safety side concerns me as much as the efficiency side.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I have a couple of questions.  It might be easier if I ask all of them 
together and then Mr. Barry might answer them.  I am aware that he is chairman designate, 
which restricts him.  It was probably beneficial for him to come here.  What did he make of the 
offer made by the main contractor, BAM, to opt out of the contract at the time it did?  Does he 
believe, having examined the board, that it has the required expertise?  I am not asking for any 
commentary on individuals; I am talking in general terms because I do not believe commentary 
on individuals would be appropriate.  Within the structure, Mr. Barry’s board reports to another 
board that reports to another which reports to the Government.  Will he be making recommen-
dations to the Government on changing that structure?  To date, it seems there have been layers 
upon layers that may not necessarily be required or work.

I have two more questions, one of which was partially answered in response to Deputy Don-
nelly.  Does Mr. Barry believe he can keep the project within the cost of €1.4 billion, plus a fit-
out cost of €300 million?  Everything hinges on the PwC report, much of which I presume will 
be similar to the Mazars report, but additional questions have been asked.  I realise Mr. Barry 
cannot prejudge the content of the report, but what will be his intention as regards taking action 
once it is published?  I refer to the timeline involved.



13 MARCH 2019

7

Mr. Fred Barry: On the offer to opt out, if we were to negotiate a termination of the main 
contract with BAM and retender, it would take a minimum of a year and half to get a new con-
tractor in place and it could be two years or even longer if there was to be any challenge.  The 
State would pick up the extra inflationary cost for the couple of years involved.  It would carry 
the costs of the development board and the CHI board before the start-up for an extra couple 
of years.  The current contractors would have to be paid for de-mobilising and there would be 
a further payment to re-mobilise the new contract.  There are many long lead-in equipment 
items and materials on order, not only through the main building contractor but also through 
the mechanical and electrical contractors.  The State would have to pay all of the associated 
cancellation charges.  Therefore, I do not believe it would be good business for it to stop the 
work now and retender as it would end up costing money and lead to a much later opening than 
would otherwise be the case.

On the expertise required, board appointments are matters for the Minister.  Good, bad or 
indifferent, neither I nor any chairman should be-----

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I was not asking about board members but about whether the board 
had the expertise.

Mr. Fred Barry: Even collectively, the membership of the board is a matter for the Minis-
ter.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: That is true, but it is still a question.

Deputy  Jonathan O’Brien: It is not true.  I will get to it in a minute.

Mr. Fred Barry: To respond to Deputy Kelly’s other questions, on the figure of €1.43 bil-
lion, I have mentioned the caveats.  Some will require decisions.  If there are design changes 
proposed, there will have to be a decision on whether they are worth incorporating.  I presume 
they would be driven by changes in medical technology or practice.

Construction inflation will be whatever it is.  The rate is not under our control.

On the Mazars report and the PwC report, the latter will be issued in a couple of weeks and 
the Government will form its own view on how it should be adopted.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: It is not a Government report.

Mr. Fred Barry: It is a report for the HSE; it is not ours either.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: It is not a Government report.

Mr. Fred Barry: But it is not ours.  The Mazars report contained a number of recommenda-
tions.  Certainly, I would take one recommendation made in it.  The supervisory team needs to 
be reorganised a little at this stage as we move from the earlier design phase and the procure-
ment phase to the construction phase.  Aspects need to be strengthened in that regard.  I will be 
taking up recommendations made in that respect.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I also asked about the layers.

Mr. Fred Barry: Excuse me.  Regarding the layers of government above us, many commit-
tees are involved, but that is a matter for the HSE and the Minister.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Why is it a matter for the HSE?
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Mr. Fred Barry: Some of them are HSE committees.  There is a HSE committee over the 
children’s hospital-----

Deputy  Alan Kelly: No.

Mr. Fred Barry: With respect, Deputy, there is a HSE committee.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: That is not what it is called and that is not what we were told.  They 
are Department of Health committees.

Mr. Fred Barry: I thought there was a HSE committee as well.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: No.

Mr. Fred Barry: I stand corrected.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: If it is a HSE committee, it is news to us.  Is Mr. Barry happy to work 
within those-----

Mr. Fred Barry: I will work within whatever parameters I am told to work.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: It is peculiar that, as chair designate, Mr. Barry believes it is the 
normal or right thing to do to report to, in his words, a HSE committee.  First, there is no such 
committee.  Second, even if there was, the idea that he as chair of a board that is building the 
hospital would report to it possibly defeats the purpose.  Why was the board set up otherwise?

Mr. Fred Barry: The HSE is the sanctioning authority for the hospital.  It is not at all inap-
propriate that the HSE would have some role in it.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I am not denying that.  My issue is with the layers.  They seem a bit-
----

Mr. Fred Barry: I understand, but it is unreasonable to expect me to criticise the govern-
ment structures that are in place.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I do not expect Mr. Barry to criticise them.  I am only asking whether 
he would, as chair, make recommendations, have conversations or put forward his opinion on 
the matter.

Mr. Fred Barry: If I did, I would put my opinion to the Minister.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I agree.  Would Mr. Barry do that?

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: That is all I wanted to know.  I thank Mr. Barry.

Deputy  Jonathan O’Brien: I will also be running to the launch of the periodic report, so I 
will be brief.  First, I wish Mr. Barry the best of luck with this.

Mr. Fred Barry: I thank the Deputy.

Deputy  Jonathan O’Brien: Regardless of our political affiliations, we all sincerely wish 
him good luck.
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I wish to ask a couple of questions, the first of which will be on the board.  I do not want 
Mr. Barry to say anything that could affect future relationships on the board, but its member-
ship is not an issue solely for the Minister.  The legislation is clear, in that the chair of the board 
nominates three members to the Minister for appointment.  Is this something that Mr. Barry has 
considered or is willing to consider?  He is stepping mid-stream into a board.  I do not know 
whether he has worked with any of the board members previously or has a prior professional 
relationship with them.  Will he use this opportunity to bring in people whom he has worked 
with and whose experience he knows?  Has he begun considering this matter?

Second, Mr. Barry has vast experience.  I looked through his CV last night.  He has in-
ternational experience in project management and I am sure he has been involved in many 
large-scale tendering and procurement processes.  One of the major questions that is starting to 
emerge relates to the two-stage process that was decided by the development board.  The board 
received a derogation from the Government construction contracts committee, GCCC.  This 
type of derogation in a two-stage process has only been taken up twice - once by the develop-
ment board and once in respect of the Dunkettle interchange - and at a preliminary stage.  The 
development board would have been a pioneer in this type of procurement process.  From his 
previous work in project management, has Mr. Barry experience of this type of two-stage pro-
cess?  He might provide some commentary, after which I will ask a follow-up question.

Mr. Fred Barry: On recommendations regarding board members, there is a vacancy on the 
board currently.  Post the PricewaterhouseCoopers, PwC, report, I will discuss those with the 
Minister and make a recommendation or two as to how the board might be strengthened.  That 
is not a reflection on the current board members.

Regarding the two-stage process, which is relatively new in the Irish context, the more gen-
eral process of awarding contracts against approximate quantities at an early stage and subse-
quently converting those to either fixed prices, guaranteed maximums, target prices or whatever 
is commonplace throughout the world.  It can work well and has the benefit of getting the work 
started much earlier than might otherwise be the case.  Often, it helps in getting contractor input 
into design, development and some of the procurement issues.  There are many positives to it.

It was certainly complicated this time around because the original tender documents did not 
capture the scope of the project as well as might have been the case.  Consequently, there was 
far more left to be negotiated subsequently than might have been hoped.  As a process, though, 
there is nothing wrong with two stages or variations on those.  In the UK, for example, a great 
deal of work is done on a target price basis.  There are many benefits to that sort of contract pro-
cess.  It is more difficult in the public sector than it is in the private sector, though.  The public 
sector is understandably quite risk averse whereas, in the private sector, speed to market is often 
a much greater driver than getting the minimal construction cost.  Saving time is regarded as 
much more valuable than shaving a certain amount off the construction cost.

Processes of that sort can work very well.  That does not mean that they have worked very 
well in this instance, of course.

Deputy  Jonathan O’Brien: Does that surprise Mr. Barry, given that we have the Office of 
Government Procurement, OGP, the public spending code, the development board with its ex-
pertise and sub-committees dealing with procurement and tendering?  To hear that the original 
tender documents did not capture the scope of the project-----

Mr. Fred Barry: Fully.
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Deputy  Jonathan O’Brien: -----fully is alarming.  The route taken was to get a derogation 
for a two-stage process.  A report was even done on the advantages and disadvantages of going 
down that road.  One of the disadvantages identified was that it could lead to cost overruns if 
capturing the scope of the project and the bill of quantities accurately was not done correctly.  
That is what has transpired in this instance.  I am not saying that it is the sole reason for the 
overrun, but it has played a significant part in that.  How could we get to that stage when we 
had all of this expertise?  It is difficult to understand how the original tender documents did not 
capture the scope of the project fully.

Mr. Fred Barry: I am afraid I cannot give the Deputy the answer to his question.  The PwC 
report may or may not identify it; I do not know.  I cannot go back in time and say why all of 
that was not captured.

Deputy  Jonathan O’Brien: My final question will be a quick one.  In Mr. Barry’s role with 
the NRA, I presume he was involved with many capital projects.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.

Deputy  Jonathan O’Brien: This is not a question to try to catch him out.  How many of 
those projects had cost overruns and, if any did, how did he deal with them?

Mr. Fred Barry: We undertook hundreds and hundreds of projects during my time with 
the NRA.  I could not give the Deputy a specific number.  We had annual funding and a multi-
annual funding programme, so our target in the context of budget setting and projects was to 
ensure that we delivered the outputs we were supposed to deliver for the money we were get-
ting.  In terms of individual projects, some would be over budget while more would be under 
budget.  One would have thought that if one did not have the occasional project going under 
budget then the budgets were probably being set too loosely.  One would expect to have more 
coming in under budget rather than over budget so that, on balance, the programme was deliver-
ing the outputs it needed to deliver for the money being spent.

Deputy  Jonathan O’Brien: One would also presume that there would have been a very 
strict monitoring process.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes, there would be very strict monitoring.  There would also be a realistic 
assessment of the risks on projects and allowances made accordingly.  It is desirable to capture 
as much of a project as one can within a single contract and get that nailed down but one never 
captures everything.  No contractor is ever going to guarantee a fixed final price against any 
contingency because he or she could not do that and stay in business.  Therefore, one must as-
sess the risks and make appropriate allowances.

Chairman: Deputy Durkan is next.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I welcome Mr. Barry.  He is still Chairman designate but I 
am sure his appointment will prove to be very appropriate.  I raised the issue of the multiplicity 
of boards associated with the hospital at the committee’s meeting with representatives from the 
National Paediatric Hospital Development Board when it became obvious that there were some 
cost overruns.  Interaction between those boards is an absolute necessity.  They should not be 
acting independently of one another because experience tells us that there is a danger that one of 
the interests involved will lead the project in a particular direction, which can lead to situations 
such as that we are now facing.  There must be regular, weekly interaction.  Personnel from one 
board must have ex officio representation on all of the other boards.  Otherwise, one board will 



13 MARCH 2019

11

take off on a gallop over which the others have no control.  I would not presume to advise Mr. 
Barry but I would suggest, based on past experience, that this is important.

Unfortunately, this project has got bad a press because it seems to be a question of guess-
timating what will be the overall overrun.  Deputy Donnelly has analysed the project from the 
very beginning and suggested that there could be no end to the overruns.  I have listened to 
Deputy Donnelly carefully.  I like him; he is a very nice fellow but I do not want to see over-
exaggeration of the costs, even in the context of making a political point.  I contend that the 
original guesstimate was way short of what it should have been.  I look forward to the PwC 
report because it will identify the basis on which the figures were arrived at in the first instance.  
There was no basis at all for arriving at the figures mentioned at the outset.  If one wants to 
quantify an overrun, the lower one starts, the bigger it will be.  It is in the interests of those who 
want to criticise the project to have the original guesstimate of costs as low as possible.  Be-
tween June and August of 2018, considerable effort was made by the boards to reduce the costs 
and a relatively small reduction was achieved.  However, if this project were to stall, it would 
be a national disaster.  The cost consequences would be massive.  That has been the experience 
on many other projects here and throughout Europe.

I do not understand the need for the 6,000 rooms provided for in the project.  I know that 
some of the rooms will house equipment and some will be for consultations but we have not 
been informed how the rest will be used.  Obviously, the more rooms that are provided, the 
more expensive the project.  It may be of benefit to reduce the number of rooms in the hospital.  
We do not know what will be in those rooms.  Could the number be reduced without undermin-
ing the overall thrust of what the hospital is about?  There is no reason it could not be revised 
further, subject to planning permission, the process relating to which can, admittedly, be fickle.  
Nonetheless, we should look at the fact that it is a 12-acre site on an overall site that is three or 
four times that size.  I was approached recently about the possibility of rearranging the traffic 
to and from the site in a way that would reduce costs.  I do not know if that is a realistic pos-
sibility because I am not familiar with the traffic movements in the area, but perhaps it could 
be considered.

This hospital has been campaigned for and sought for nearly 40 years but has not yet mate-
rialised.  It has not materialised because agreement could not be reached on where it should be 
located.  There will never be such agreement even if we are to wait for another 40 years.  There 
will never be agreement on the optimum location and that is a fact.  This is because of national 
and medical politics and the different objectives of various actors, many of which are held in 
good faith.  However, if we are going to make progress we cannot postpone this forever.  It is 
not in the interests of children’s health to do so.  It has not been beneficial to children’s health 
that the hospital has not yet been built; it should have been built at least 20 years ago.

I also have a question on the fitting out of the hospital.  The fitting out is an add-on in all 
hospitals and is expensive.  I recall when Beaumont Hospital was being fitted out.  The building 
was left idle for a year or 18 months while the fitting out took place.  There are extra or add-on 
costs involved.  It is no good saying that we knew what the costs would be because we did not 
know.  We do not know what the total will be until the fitting-out costs are clearly identified.

I cannot understand why detailed specification and quantity surveyor reports are not always 
required before proceeding with a project, in order to protect everybody.  We should not indulge 
in rough or even precise estimates in a project of this size.  This hospital is needed but it must 
be built in accordance with the requirements for which advocates have petitioned for many 
years.  It would be an enormous disappointment to the families of sick children and the children 
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themselves were it to be delayed indefinitely while a political wrangle takes place over where 
it should be located and how it should be costed.  This is not the first location chosen for this 
hospital.  It was to be built on the Mater site and a number of other sites were also proposed.  
The proposal for the current location incorporates two other hospitals at Blanchardstown and 
Tallaght.  It is a comprehensive proposal that should not be dismissed in the way some people 
are dismissing it.  Somebody spent money somewhere in the past ten or 15 years and we have 
very little to show for it yet.  We should proceed cautiously and ensure that the hospital is at 
least on par with those throughout the world, which is what we hope.

Chairman: Does Mr. Barry have a response?

Mr. Fred Barry: I would simply note what Deputy Durkan said and thank him for his ad-
vice.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: That supplementary is a safe bet.

Senator  Colm Burke: It is planned to spend more than €10 billion on hospital infrastruc-
ture under Project Ireland 2040.  In view of what has occurred, does Mr. Barry believe we 
should set up a formal structure similar to the way the NRA took on roads projects and, as a 
result, acquired a great deal of experience as it went on and became efficient the delivery of 
roads infrastructure?  Should something similar be set up for hospital development whereby a 
core group of people would be responsible for the management and roll-out of specific hospital 
projects?

Mr. Fred Barry: As I understand it, and I am subject to correction, the HSE will be the 
sanctioning authority for at least most, if not all, of those hospital investments and, as such, I 
assume the HSE has a group within it overseeing projects.  What its structure is around that I 
do not know at this stage.

Senator  Colm Burke: Does Mr. Barry agree it is time to look at that and bring in-----

Mr. Fred Barry: That would be implying that the HSE has not looked at it.  I do not know 
where it is on that or its oversight arrangements in respect of hospital projects beyond this one.

Senator  Colm Burke: We have not heard of any formal structure being set up.  I am talk-
ing about people with Mr. Barry’s expertise becoming involved in a structure in the same way 
it was done with the roll-out of national roads development.  Does the same need to done in 
respect of the roll-out of hospital infrastructure?

Mr. Fred Barry: It worked very well in terms of roads infrastructure and is continuing to 
work very well-----

Senator  Colm Burke: Absolutely.

Mr. Fred Barry: -----but how that ties in with what the HSE has currently, I cannot tell the 
Senator.  I am sorry.

Senator  Colm Burke: There is a €10 billion programme for capital spend on hospital in-
frastructure.

Mr. Fred Barry: Indeed, but my knowledge base of the HSE’s structures, management 
process and so on is very light.
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Deputy  Margaret Murphy O’Mahony: Mr. Barry is welcome.  I thank him for coming in 
and I wish him luck in his role.  It is not an easy one but as they say, no better man for the job.  
Much of what I wanted to ask and comment on has been dealt with by previous speakers but I 
have two questions.  I realise Mr. Barry is responsible for the build aspect, as he said earlier.  He 
said that things would not be significantly different if they had been done properly, for the want 
of a better word, in terms of tendering and so on.  Was this entire process an underestimation of 
the costs rather than an overspend and, if so, how does Mr. Barry believe it happened?

We all agree this project got off to a bad start in terms of the overspend, despite everybody 
believing the hospital is needed and wishing the project well.  The answer to this question may 
not come under his remit but how does he believe public perception can be changed?

Mr. Fred Barry: There was an underestimate of the costs.  I am not saying the costs would 
have come out exactly as they have done if that had not happened.  As I said, with competitive 
tension there might have been a slight improvement in the pricing but it would not have been 
different in order of magnitude.

In terms of how it happened, I cannot answer that.  I am hoping PwC will come up with 
some of the answers but it has had some months examining all the documentation and so on so 
it will have more detailed knowledge on that than I have at this stage.  It is certainly unfortunate 
that what is a very much-needed hospital now has the aura of the cost issue hanging over it.  
In terms of what can be done about that, we have to build the hospital and it has to be a great 
facility for people.  Eventually, if it works well for the public-----

Deputy  Margaret Murphy O’Mahony: The memory of the costs will be gone.

Mr. Fred Barry: -----the memory of the rest will fade.  However, that delivery of something 
people value is the only way I can think of to re-establish the benefits of it.

Deputy  Margaret Murphy O’Mahony: That is important.  I thank Mr. Barry.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I thank Mr. Barry for coming in and I wish him the very best of 
luck.

Mr. Fred Barry: I thank the Deputy very much.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I am a big supporter of the children’s hospital on its current site 
so I am happy Mr. Barry has taken up the role and that, finally, we can get this project delivered.

He has answered a number of historical questions but I want to focus on where we go now.  
Driving by the St. James’s Hospital site, one can see that it is coming out of the ground, yet 
there is still commentary on the site in the media and in political circles; we had a debate again 
in the Dáil last night.  Mr. Barry might briefly outline to the committee the status of the project.  
There is an suggestion that there is a hole in the ground and nothing else.  Initially, Mr. Barry 
might outline the reality of what is on the ground.  As Deputy Durkan said, there has been medi-
cal politics, regular politics and all sorts of groups involved in this project but we now have to 
consider how to finish this hospital.

I understand there is some commentary on the estimates issue and that perhaps it involved 
poor calculation of quantities and inflation within the market at the time of design.  There has 
been mention of de-scoping.  We all know that if we want a fancy kitchen sometimes we have 
to forgo the curved cupboards or the brass taps or put whatever covering on the floors.  In terms 
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of de-scoping and pulling back on costs, can Mr. Barry say yet if there is any room to do that?  
There is a portion of aluminium cladding on the outside and some stone work.  I have not stud-
ied the entire building but Mr. Barry might set in stone today - excuse the pun - if we can put an 
end to this de-scoping conversation or is there room for a cost saving in the future?

There has been a conversation about the 6,000 rooms.  It is almost as if there is no need 
for 6,000 rooms but that is an issue for anyone who has been in an intensive care unit or high 
dependency children’s ward.  Mr. Barry might elaborate on the number of rooms off a main 
room that would be needed.  I am aware that Crumlin Hospital is currently jammed.  There are 
no treatment rooms.  With regard to isolation for chemotherapy, children are immunocompro-
mised, so we are not talking about 6,000 regular little rooms.  Mr. Barry might elaborate on that 
for the committee.

There has been a lot of conversation about fire safety.  I want to make sure the message gets 
out, if it is correct, that there are safe burn times and that there is no issue with the provision of 
car parking in the basement.  On cladding and finishes, in light of what happened in Grenfell 
Tower, is Mr. Barry satisfied that our children will be safe if a fire breaks out and that there will 
be the proper response times to get them out of the building?

Equipment comes under his remit.  Does equipment mean computers as in fixed hardware, 
telephones, kettles and such items or does it mean MRI and X-ray machines, or is it all of 
those?  I do not know if there has been a discussion on how we will go forward in that regard.  
Approximately two years ago, we, as a committee, discussed how we should go about main-
tenance of equipment.  I raised here the fact that there are always issues with the maintenance 
people in a hospital when it comes to taking on new roles and training in terms of depreciation 
of equipment.  Equipment is often leased in the retail sector now and that there is a maintenance 
contract.  If the retail and commercial sectors are doing that, it tends to be the best option.  Are 
Mr. Barry and his team looking into that model, which will involve owning the telephones, the 
computers and such items?  However, when it comes to large, expensive machines which may 
be rendered quickly out of date, how will that bill be divvied up?

Mr. Fred Barry: Deputy O’Connell asked about a number of topics.  On the site, certainly 
there is a great big hole in the ground, with an enormous amount piled around it.  There is a 
four storey building on one side and there is another coming out of the ground.  Therefore, a lot 
of work has been done on the site and the idea of moving to a new location should be removed 
from everyone’s mind.  An Bord Pleanála turned down the application for planning permission 
for the development on the Mater hospital site.  It gave planning permission for where it is to 
be built at St. James’s Hospital.  There is no certainty that it would not turn down an application 
for planning permission to build it on another site.  If that were to happen, it could be five or 
six years before the tendering process could even start again.  If the project is to be delivered, it 
needs to be delivered where the hospital is being built.

There has been extensive value engineering and de-scoping work done and more or less 
everything that can be gleaned from it has been gleaned.  There are still some bits and pieces 
being done, but, as I mentioned, they will only generate only modest savings overall.  I think 
the facade is on order and being manufactured.  We are, therefore, much further along than it 
appears.  Even though construction work on the site is only starting to come up from basement 
levels, there are orders in place for equipment.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: There are lead-in times.
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Mr. Fred Barry: There are long lead-in times, but there is not a lot left to be done.

As I am not a hospital programmer, I have no knowledge of how many rooms are needed.  
What is in place has come from the user requirements signed off on by the HSE, the children’s 
hospital board and so on, the people who will be using the hospital.  The decision on rooms was 
not just conjured up, rather, it was made by the experts who will be managing and running the 
hospital.

There will be fire certificates for the hospital.  While there is more work to be done in ob-
taining them, I know that work has been done in adding sprinklers to the hospital to make it 
even safer.  The cladding issues that arose at Grenfell Tower have been reflected on at length 
and changes have been incorporated into the design.

The role in equipping the hospital is shared between the National Paediatric Hospital De-
velopment Board and Corporate Health Ireland, CHI.  Let us take the computers as an example.  
We will be installing much of the wiring, while CHI will buy the actual computers.  There will, 
therefore, be an integrated approach.  The National Paediatric Hospital Development Board will 
also buy much of the hospital equipment to be used such as imaging equipment.  I do not know, 
but CHI may buy some other equipment.  I do know, however, that significant discussions took 
place before I came along on whether things should be bought directly or through a managed 
equipment service.  I am not part of those discussions because I came in after the event.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Perhaps the committee might find out at what stage the discus-
sions are in order that we will not end up in a similar bind on the issue of estimate versus cost 
in a year’s time.

Mr. Fred Barry: We will provide the committee with a note on that matter.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: If the role of the National Paediatric Hospital Development 
Board is to buy phones and computers and the role of CHI is to buy MRI equipment, we need 
to make sure there is a division.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes, a clear one.

Chairman: I thank Mr. Barry for coming and wish him the best of luck in his new position.  
It is probably not ideal coming in halfway through the project to replace the previous chairman, 
which I am sure carries its own difficulties.  Will he outline for the committee how he proposes 
to identify and make the relevant people aware of further cost overruns?  We have spoken about 
a 4% inflation rate and the additional costs will arise if it move above it.  The project is due to 
be completed in mid-2022.  If it runs over time, there will be an additional cost.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.

Chairman: There are other costs which are outside the control of the board because if there 
are changes in PRSI and VAT rates, it will have cost implications.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.

Chairman: The Government has engaged or is proposing to engage in a scenario analysis 
to look at future unidentified costs.  How will Mr. Barry, as chairperson of the National Paedi-
atric Hospital Development Board, identify and deal with these costs as early as possible and 
communicate them to the various layers above the board?  I think the layer directly above the 
board is chaired by a deputy secretary general in the HSE, above which there is a board chaired 
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by the Secretary General of the Department of Health.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.

Chairman: How do Mr. Barry propose to make these costs known in order that there will 
be no suprises when it comes to additional cost overruns?

Mr. Fred Barry: First, if there are cost pressures which will lead to increases, we need to 
identify them.  We will have a keen focus on costs on an ongoing basis.  We will have monthly 
board meetings, at all of which we will receive detailed cost reports and forecasts.  If we fore-
cast that the cost will move above the current figure of €1.43 billion, we will flag it immediately 
to everybody else involved.  One of the disappointing aspects of the process so far is that the 
actual costs were recognised rather late in the day.  We will try to avoid anything like that hap-
pening again.

Chairman: On behalf of the committee, I thank Mr. Barry for coming.  The committee will 
be writing to the Minister to say we have engaged with him.  That will allow the Minister to 
proceed.

Mr. Fred Barry: Yes.

Chairman: I again thank Mr. Barry.

Sitting suspended at 10.37 a.m. and resumed at 10.40 a.m.

National Cancer Strategy: Discussion

Chairman: The next two sessions of the committee this morning will look at the National 
Cancer Strategy 2017-2026 to examine how it is operating on the ground.  During the first ses-
sion the committee will hear from representatives of Cancer Trials Ireland, the Irish Cancer 
Society and the Health Research Board.

On behalf of the committee I welcome to our meeting this morning from Cancer Trials 
Ireland Ms Eibhlin Mulroe, chief executive officer, CEO, and Professor Bryan Hennessy, clini-
cal lead; from the Irish Cancer Society Ms Averil Power, CEO, and Mr. Donal Buggy, head of 
services; and from the Health Research Board Dr. Darrin Morrissey, chief executive, and Dr. 
Mairead O’Driscoll, director of research strategy and funding.

I draw witnesses’ attention to the fact that by virtue of section 17(2)(l) of the Defamation 
Act 2009, witnesses are protected by absolute privilege in respect of the evidence they give to 
the joint committee.  If, however, they are directed by it to cease giving evidence on a particular 
matter and continue to do so, they are entitled thereafter only to qualified privilege in respect of 
their evidence.  They are directed that only evidence connected with the subject matter of these 
proceedings is to be given and are asked to respect the parliamentary practice to the effect that, 
where possible, they should not criticise or make charges against any person or an entity by 
name or in such a way as to make him, her or it identifiable.  Any opening statements provided 
to the committee may be published on the committee’s website after this meeting.

Members are reminded of the longstanding parliamentary practice to the effect that members 
should not comment on, criticise or make charges against either a person outside the Houses or 
an official either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.
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Because there are two sessions and six sets of witnesses, perhaps the witnesses could con-
fine their opening statements to three or four minutes.  The committee has received the opening 
statements so I ask the witnesses to summarise their submissions, if possible.

Professor Bryan Hennessy: I thank the Chairman and members of the committee for in-
viting us here this morning.  I am the clinical lead of Cancer Trials Ireland and I am joined by 
our CEO, Eibhlin Mulroe.  We are delighted to be here to discuss the implementation of the 
research-related key performance indicators of the national cancer strategy.  We also want to 
raise awareness of the value of clinical trials in cancer treatment.

I am a consultant medical oncologist, a professor of medicine at the Royal College of Sur-
geons in Ireland and an adjunct professor in the division of cancer medicine at the University of 
Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center.

Cancer Trials Ireland is a charity that was set up by doctors, nurses and scientists in cancer 
care to work on trials across cancer disease areas.  There are over 500 members and we come 
together regularly to develop ideas and set up cancer trials.  We have 130 cancer trials under 
way in Ireland, which involve thousands of patients.  The trials are how we develop new and 
effective cancer treatments.

Ireland has the know-how to do more trials.  By increasing investment in cancer trials in-
frastructure, we will be offering Irish cancer patients more options and potentially better out-
comes.  Cancer trials can extend lives and improve quality of life.  When I am in the clinic with 
a cancer patient, there are times when I want to be able to offer more than the standard of care 
and that is where a trial can help.  Due to the resource constraints in our cancer units and at our 
head office, there are trials we simply cannot do at the moment.

Cancer is a genetic disease caused by changes in DNA that can be inherited but most of 
which arise randomly during a person’s lifetime.  The landscape of cancer trials globally is 
changing as we move away from treatments based on the previous understanding of cancer site 
of origin such as lung, breast or pancreatic cancers, and more towards targeted studies where we 
look for the same DNA change or mutation in a variety of cancer types.  These trials are very 
specific, with smaller patient numbers, and are replacing the larger one-size-fits-all trials that 
we had done in the past.  Ireland can and does participate in these new types of trials, which are 
important for patients.  In such trials we are testing whether certain targets in cancers respond 
to specific new treatments in the context of trials where the patients are monitored at the highest 
level.

As for our recommendations, we need to take steps to implement the national cancer strat-
egy published in 2017.  The previous strategy in 2006 was a game changer for cancer care.  We 
in Cancer Trials Ireland believe this strategy could also be a game changer for cancer research.  
Many members will be aware that we need to be ready to take on the challenge of a twofold 
increase in the incidence of cancer on the island of Ireland over the next 20 years.  In that con-
text, fostering a research culture in our hospitals is important and will create more treatment 
options for patients through our activity.  The target - KPI 20 in the national cancer strategy - to 
double the number of people with cancer who can access cancer trials, from an estimated 3% to 
6% by 2020 would have saved the HSE millions of euro in drug costs and would have provided 
more patients with access to promising new treatments that would otherwise not be available.   
Because of cuts to our funding, however, we are actually going in the wrong direction.  In 2018 
the numbers we have collected so far suggest only 348 patients were newly recruited to cancer 
trials in 2018 and according to the last report by the National Cancer Registry Ireland, NCRI, 
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there were 22,321 new cases of cancer in the same year.  In 2014, the equivalent figure was 664 
patients on trials and approximately 21,000 new cases of cancer, which led to calculation of the 
3% baseline figure.

In order to support the national cancer control programme, NCCP, achieving this key per-
formance indicator, KPI, and other research related KPIs, Cancer Trials Ireland is calling for 
support from this committee to reverse the 20% funding cut to its Health Research Board grant 
that supports its cancer trials research units and general central office.  We need an additional 
€1.2 million per year to Cancer Trials Ireland research units and central office over the next 
three years to increase activity and to bring patient numbers up to and above the 3% baseline 
for persons recruited to clinical trials.  We need protected time for clinicians and medical teams 
so they can do more research and foster a culture of research in our hospitals.

We recommend that the NCCP makes available a ring-fenced fund to which cancer trials 
research units can apply for multi-year funding for staff and capital to ensure continuity and 
to build up human capital in each unit.  While the Health Research Board grant covers costs it 
is not sufficient funding to provide a stable platform for individual research units to do more.

I will hand over to my colleague, Ms Eibhlin Mulroe.

Ms Eibhlin Mulroe: I thank Professor Hennessy and the Chairman.  It is great to be here 
today.

The implementation of the national cancer strategy could take us significantly closer to 
achieving more options for cancer patients.  To date we have been enabled through funding 
received from the Irish Cancer Society, which contributes €485,000 annually and the Health 
Research Board, which contributes €3 million per year.  Some €2 million of this funding is dis-
tributed among our 11 cancer units in our hospital sites.  This funding employs people to work 
on clinical trials.  In 2006, the figure for hospital sites was €3.8 million or almost half.  We also 
receive kind support from the St. Luke’s cancer research fund, which is €165,000 per year.  The 
other half our income is generated through sponsoring our own investigator initiated studies.  
They are our trials, we run them and we come up with the ideas but they are funded by pharma-
ceutical companies and working with international groups like ours to bring international trials 
to Ireland.

Patient involvement is key for us.  Cancer Trials Ireland makes a direct impact on Irish 
patient lives and it is important for the committee to reflect on that.  In our submission on 6 
March, we included true-life stories of people and their experience.  There are many stories of 
people who have lived longer and with improved quality of life because of their participation 
on a clinical trial.  They have been there for family, major life events and, most importantly, for 
their children and grandchildren.

There are many misconceptions concerning participation on clinical trials and we try to 
stimulate public conversations about trials through our Just Ask Your Doctor campaign.  We 
are humbled that so many patients are willing to advocate for cancer trials on our behalf.  We 
have established a patient consultant’s committee, some members of which are with us here 
today.  We are very appreciative of that.  Patient involvement in the decisions we make and the 
research we do is of strategic importance to our organisation.

Our challenge, as outlined by Professor Hennessy, is that we can report little movement on 
the implementation of the research KPIs.  Due to our reduced funding, we have had to decline 
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opening clinically important academic trials and people with a range of cancers, including 
lymphoma, testicular and endometrial cancer, have lost out.  We are unable to be proactive in 
exploring opportunities to open new trials in areas such as pancreatic, lung, testicular and cervi-
cal cancer.  This is as a direct result of reduced funding.

The work at our office and at hospital sites is highly specialised and subject to a detailed 
quality management system with over 50 standard operating procedures, SOPs, designed by us, 
and is frequently inspected by the HPRA.  Patients in Ireland on clinical trials can take comfort 
in the knowledge that their welfare is monitored at the highest level in healthcare.  However, it 
costs to do more and to maintain quality standards.  Therefore, we need increased funding from 
the Department of Health through the Health Research Board and a budget commitment for the 
NCCP for research at our hospital cancer units and head office.

The medium-term objective of Cancer Trials Ireland, CTI, is to test and prove treatments 
that kill cancer and stop it in its tracks.  One important difference between cancer trials and all 
other cancer research is that clinical trials have a profound impact on the lives of people with 
cancer today.  Trials deliver in the medium and immediate term.  Today our trials are providing 
patients with access to proven but not yet available treatments that can save their lives.  There 
are people on trials today who would not be alive if they did not have access to one of our trials.

It is really important for decision makers to understand that when the funding for trials is 
reduced, life-saving treatments for patients today can be removed.  Their options are reduced.  
Is this a wise approach?  We believe not.

We would like to take this opportunity to thank the 15,000 Irish patients who have volun-
teered on our trials over the past 20 years.  They have made a difference for future generations 
of cancer patients.

Chairman: I thank Ms Mulroe.  I ask Ms Averil Power to make her opening statement.

Ms Averil Power: I thank the Chairman and the committee members for inviting the Irish 
Cancer Society before the committee this morning.  My colleague, Mr. Donal Buggy, the soci-
ety’s head of services, and I appreciate the opportunity to outline the patient perspective on the 
national cancer strategy.

Thirty years ago, when we first celebrated Daffodil Day, only three out of ten Irish patients 
survived a cancer diagnosis.  Today, six out of ten do.  That is thanks in no small part to invest-
ment in cancer research - by ourselves, Cancer Trials Ireland, the Health Research Board, HRB, 
and others - as well as the significant improvement in cancer services in Ireland under the two 
previous national cancer strategies.  For example, the centralisation of cancer surgery, under the 
national cancer strategy of 2006, has ensured that more patients are being treated by healthcare 
professionals with more experience and expertise in their particular type of cancer and thou-
sands of lives have been saved as a result.

However, Ireland’s cancer outcomes still lag behind other European countries.  It was this 
lag that the 2017 national cancer strategy set out to tackle through a focus on prevention, early 
diagnosis, providing an integrated model of care where patients get the package of supports 
from multi-disciplinary teams and improving treatment, particularly in rare cancers and those 
where our outcomes are still poor.  Crucially, the 2017 strategy also recognised the importance 
of patient involvement in their care and of improving quality of life for cancer survivors.  It 
stressed the importance of investment in cancer research, as a key driver of innovation and 
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a way, as Ms Mulroe of CTI has pointed out, of ensuring access for patients to life-saving 
medicines that they simply would not get otherwise.  It also highlighted that sufficient support 
for the national cancer control programme and effective workforce planning were essential to 
delivering change.

The Irish Cancer Society was proud to sit on the steering committee for the development 
of the 2017 cancer strategy under the leadership of Professor John Kennedy, who is a former 
chairman of the society.  It is a visionary document that puts the needs of patients at its heart and 
which, if implemented, would reduce the number of Irish people getting cancer in the coming 
years and would increase survival rates and quality of life for those who do.

That is why it is so disappointing that there seems to be very little momentum behind its de-
livery.  According to the implementation report published in February, six out of seven interim 
targets due to be met by the end of 2018 were missed.  Even worse, the HSE’s 2019 services 
plan explicitly states that the NCCP allocation for this year will not enable the service to match 
referral demands in areas such as radiotherapy, rapid access clinics and diagnostics.  Not only 
have resources not been provided to the NCCP to deliver the new initiatives promised in the 
strategy, inadequate funding has been given to deliver existing services to an increasing number 
of cancer patients.  This is truly shocking and will have a major impact on cancer patients and 
their families.

One of the six missed targets was to ensure patients are diagnosed earlier, thereby increasing 
their chances of survival.  We recently heard from a woman whose GP had recommended she 
attend a breast clinic to investigate some worrying symptoms.  She told us that her doctor had 
told her that her case was urgent and as such she should be seen at the clinic within two weeks.  
Still waiting for an appointment, she rang our Nurseline very upset.  She was incredibly wor-
ried, anxious and distressed, thinking about a possible cancer growing inside her while she was 
still waiting to be seen.

At the end of 2018, 95% of people classified as having breast cancer symptoms needing 
urgent investigation were supposed to be seen within two weeks but only 75% were.  Nine out 
of ten patients with certain cancers were to have surgeries within the timelines set out in the 
strategy and only seven out of ten did.  Nine out of ten patients starting radiotherapy treatment 
were meant to start within 15 days of being ready to do so and only eight out of ten did.  Every 
missed target affects real people - the mother with a lump in her breast, the father with blood 
in his urine, the healthcare professionals trying to do their best for their patients in a chaotic 
health service.  Publication of the National Cancer Strategy 2017-2026 was a step forward but 
underfunding and underperformance are two steps back.

One in two of us will be diagnosed with cancer in our lifetime.  When we are, we deserve 
the best chance.  We deserve the standard of care promised in the 2017 national cancer strategy.  
Unless action is taken now, this will not happen.  Instead, with more cancer patients and insuf-
ficient resources, standards will slip.

That is why we are calling on the committee today to help us ensure that the strategy is 
implemented by pushing for: a more detailed implementation plan with clear funding, including 
for the big infrastructural and capital projects called out in the strategy; increased investment 
in cancer research, including clinical trials and investment in CTI to provide the essential basic 
infrastructure for those trials to take place; a clear plan and timeline for the delivery of at least 
one comprehensive cancer centre; completion of the centralisation programme; and action to 
fill gaps in data and baseline figures in order that implementation of the strategy can be properly 
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monitored.  The committee members’ constituents, friends, families and communities deserve 
nothing less.

Chairman: I thank Ms Power.  I now ask Dr. Darrin Morrissey for this opening statement.

Dr. Darrin Morrissey: On behalf of myself and my colleague, Dr. Mairead O’Driscoll, I 
thank the Chairman and the committee members for the invitation to present and answer ques-
tions today.

Health research saves lives, but turning research discoveries into real benefits for people’s 
health and patient care does not happen by itself.  The Health Research Board, HRB, supports 
great ideas, the infrastructure and people to come together to make research potential a reality.  
The HRB, under the auspices of the Department of Health, is the leading Irish agency funding 
health research today.  Our annual budget is €45 million and we manage an active investment 
portfolio of approximately €170 million.

We fund research across a broad range of health areas to prevent illness, improve health, 
enhance healthcare and inform policy.  These funding areas include applied biomedical re-
search, for example, studies into antibiotic drug resistance to support MRSA treatment; clinical 
trials; population health, for example, monitoring the impact of HPV vaccination in Ireland; 
and health services research, for example, developing a standard assessment tool to reduce 
the number of adverse events happening in Irish hospitals.  Our €45 million annual funding 
pot also underpins the HRB’s role in providing evidence to Government to inform health and 
social care decision-making.  Examples of work that the HRB evidence centre has done and 
contributed to in the past number of years include the Public Health (Alcohol) Act 2018, regu-
lation and financing of home care costs and policy on water fluoridation.  We also manage four 
health information systems across a range of areas, including drug and alcohol use, drug deaths, 
disability and mental health.  International evidence tells us that research-active healthcare 
systems have better outcomes for patients.  The Health Research Board, HRB, has been at the 
forefront in some key developments enabling better health and better healthcare in Ireland.  The 
HRB has invested in an extensive network of three clinical research facilities; five clinical trial 
networks, including Cancer Trials Ireland; a clinical research co-ordination Ireland hub, which 
co-ordinates Ireland’s involvement in clinical trials; and a trial methodology research network 
to strengthen the approach taken to trials.  Whether improving lives, prolonging lives or saving 
lives, health research must be patient-focused.  The HRB has also been taking a lead on putting 
the patient first by encouraging and helping researchers to involve the public in their research 
from the start and helping the public participate in reviews of research proposals.

I will now address cancer and cancer research.  The HRB recently analysed the most recent 
available data on the spend on health research from a range of public funding agencies in Ire-
land between 2011 and 2015.  During that period, the main agencies and Departments provided 
cumulative funding of €750 million.  When we looked at the spend on different disease areas, 
we found that cancer accounted for about 20% of national funding.

This level of investment is reflected in the HRB’s portfolio.  Although we provide funding in 
all disease areas and in cross-cutting areas, approximately 20% of the HRB’s revenue budget is 
allocated to cancer research.  This pattern of expenditure on cancer is not at all out of kilter with 
other countries.  In the UK, for example, about 20% of national funding for disease-specific 
health research is allocated to cancer.  In Norway, approximately 25% of all research funding 
is devoted to cancer.  It must be acknowledged, however, that compared with other countries, 
Ireland’s spend on research is a relatively small proportion of total health spend.  In absolute 
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terms, the HRB allocated €50 million to cancer research in the period from 2011 to 2015.  
Across all agencies, the total number was €93 million.  The next largest funder was Science 
Foundation Ireland, with a spend of more than €30 million. 

I will now refer to the national cancer strategy.  We at the HRB welcome this review of the 
national cancer strategy and the fact that more attention is being given to research as part of 
that review.  We have three recommendations specific to the research area that we believe will 
drive the research agenda for cancer in the future.  First, we recommend the urgent establish-
ment of the national cancer research group as outlined in the strategy’s recommendation 46.  As 
noted in the national cancer strategy, there is a need for better co-ordination between different 
initiatives, research entities and Government agencies.  This can be accomplished through the 
establishment of a national cancer research group.  We view this as a very important action for 
2019.  It would require the involvement of a range of stakeholders including the Department of 
Health, the NCCP, the HSE and all research funders, including funders from the charity sector 
such as the Irish Cancer Society.  There are several ways in which the group could operate.  We 
have some suggestions on how this might be done.

Second, we recommend the proactive fostering of a culture in the cancer care system that 
truly values research.  This requires supporting the people and the leadership within an inte-
grated healthcare system.  As noted in the national cancer strategy, there is a lack of recognition 
within the healthcare system that research is a relevant, vital and critical activity.  We strongly 
support the strategy’s recommendation of ensuring that newly-appointed cancer consultants and 
advanced nurse practitioners have protected time to pursue research.  The appropriate mecha-
nisms must be put in place to make this a reality and not just limited to employment contracts.  
It is one thing to have it written in a contract but actually delivering on it on a day-to-day basis 
is what is needed.  Furthermore, we recommend that the NCCP and HSE find a way to fund, or 
at least co-fund, more of the core positions in the research infrastructures, such as clinical re-
search nursing and data management.  This would free the HRB in its remit as a cancer research 
funder to move away from more basic infrastructural needs and invest in more trial activity, 
which would be good for patients and good for the system.

Our third and final recommendation is for serious efforts to be made to build patient and 
public trust by improving the use of the cancer data that already exist in an open and transpar-
ent manner.  This is linked to recommendation 52 in the national cancer strategy.  The National 
Cancer Registry Ireland is a world-class piece of data infrastructure that informs us at a high 
level about the incidence and mortality of all cancers in Ireland.  However many other data 
sources also exist such as, for example, disease-specific registries and population cohort data 
such as the data sets of the Irish longitudinal study on ageing, TILDA, and the hospital inpatient 
enquiry, HIPE.  If these data sets were linked to the National Cancer Registry Ireland data in a 
safe, controlled and trustworthy manner, this could provide valuable insights into cancer in the 
Irish population.  For example, linking information on cancer incidence and mortality to infor-
mation on demographics, socioeconomic indicators and lifestyle would help us to target cancer 
treatment and diagnostics deliver more effective prevention strategies.

We recommend that a national health data project should be initiated using the principles es-
tablished in the Health Research Board’s proposals for an enabling data environment for health 
and related research in Ireland, which we euphemistically call the data, access, storage, shar-
ing, linkage, DASSL, model.  This was published in 2016 with an initial focus on cancer.  The 
HRB believes that given Ireland’s size, relatively centralised health system, well-connected 
ecosystem and growing sense of citizen engagement, a focused and concerted effort could make 
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Ireland a leader in health data management and use.   A critical first step in that project would 
be the development of trust on the part of patients.  This could be achieved through Citizens’ 
Assembly-style meetings to build understanding of the concept, gain buy-in and establish safe 
data sharing and linkage principles.  We believe this would lay the foundations for people to 
benefit fully from the advances in genomics and precision medicine that are increasingly im-
portant in cancer treatment. 

I thank the committee for the opportunity to present.  Dr. O’Driscoll and I are happy to take 
questions.

Deputy  Margaret Murphy O’Mahony: I will start by noting that my colleague, Deputy 
Donnelly, had to go to the Dáil Chamber but he will be back.  The witnesses are not escaping 
him, though they might want to.  The witnesses are very welcome and on behalf of the public, I 
thank them for the fantastic work they do in the field of cancer.  I also wish to acknowledge the 
great success of Daffodil Day.  Where I am from in west Cork it is one of the busiest days of the 
whole year.  I wish to acknowledge the sense of volunteerism that is alive and well in Ireland 
and to congratulate everybody involved in the day.

Professor Hennessy spoke about the value of the clinical trials.  That really is an understate-
ment.  From the bottom of my heart I thank the witnesses for the work they do, because they 
certainly save lives.  I commend the witnesses.  How is it decided who is offered the trial and 
who is not?  Professor Hennessy also spoke about going backwards.  Is that totally down to 
funding or are there other factors?  

Professor Bryan Hennessy: I thank the Deputy for the questions.  I will address the second 
question first.  As I said in my opening statement, our baseline figure for the number of people 
diagnosed with cancer who go on trials is 3%.  That was calculated from 2014 figures.  The 
strategy recommends that we double that.  That is because, as other speakers have noted, inter-
national evidence clearly points to the fact that research-active healthcare systems have better 
patient outcomes.  However, the problem is that since the calculation of that baseline figure we 
actually have gone backwards.  The figure for 2018 is more like 1.5%.  That is mainly down to 
cuts to funding for cancer research nationally.  That is by far and away the biggest factor that 
has caused that problem.  Ms Mulroe can speak further on that.

The Deputy’s first question was about how we choose who goes on cancer trials.  The re-
search programme in Cancer Trials Ireland seeks to develop cancer trials for patients with all 
the different types of cancer, such as breast, colorectal, bowel and lung cancer as well as the 
less common cancers such as ovarian and pancreatic cancers.  We subdivide different cancers 
into different areas - different parts of the cancer journey that are treated in different ways.  We 
develop trials in each of those areas but we cannot cover all the different priority areas in all the 
different types of cancer, not even nearly, with the funding cuts we have experienced, and we 
want to do that because people with cancer are entitled to cancer trials.  When I see a person 
with cancer in the clinic for whom currently available treatments are no longer working, I can 
do nothing else to help the person.  If there is a trial open that suits the person, it could offer a 
lifeline.  A lifeline is hope and many trials have offered, and continue to offer, hope for people in 
Ireland with cancer, but not enough of them.  If there is no trial there is no lifeline and no hope.  
That is not the best that we should be offering people.

Deputy  Margaret Murphy O’Mahony: It is all down to funding again.

Professor Bryan Hennessy: Yes.
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Ms Eibhlin Mulroe: It is.  We are joined by Eddie MacEoin and Teresa MacEoin from our 
patients consultant’s committee who are from the Deputy’s home town.

Deputy  Margaret Murphy O’Mahony: Absolutely.

Ms Eibhlin Mulroe: They have been on the journey of a clinical trial, which we brought 
into this country from Australia.  It is an Australian trial and our little not-for-profit Irish group 
is sponsoring that trial not only in Ireland but also in Europe.  At the time, the drug involved in 
the trial was not available in Ireland.  It was not approved or licensed.  It was an experimental 
drug so people here would not have had that opportunity.  What is important is that the public 
understands.  Trials are for everyone with cancer, irrespective of when or where one is diag-
nosed.  That is why the incidence denominator irritates me slightly.  It is more to do with the 
prevalence.  We should be looking at 6% of the prevalence figure, which is almost 173,000 
people living with cancer in Ireland.  What is important is our hospital sites.  Looking at the 
number of trials we are running across the country, we are doing more in Dublin and Cork than 
we are doing in the west and north of Ireland.  It is important to consider that in the strategy, 
there is access to trials for the whole country.

The Deputy asked how one gets on a trial.  We have started to ask patients to ask their clini-
cians about trials.  We have trials open; they are on our website.  One can ask one’s clinician and 
often one can be referred to a trial.  What is heartbreaking is when a person comes to a clinic 
such as Professor Hennessy’s and one knows a trial is taking place across the water for the ex-
act condition the person has.  We could do it.  We have a list of trials in a queue that we cannot 
open because we do not have the money to do it.  It is not just the money in our office; it is also 
the nurses and so forth.  In the hospitals the Oireachtas Members work with and represent the 
nurses, doctors and data managers who work on those trials within the care journey are maxed 
out.  That is the reason for integrating research trial staff within the hospital budget line items.  
Dr. Morrissey referred to that.  It is important to point out that the trials for cancer happen in 
the cancer units in the hospital.

Deputy  Margaret Murphy O’Mahony: I acknowledge the presence of Eddie and Teresa 
MacEoin from my home town of Bandon and welcome them to Dublin.  I have two more ques-
tions.  The witnesses spoke about there being more cancer patients.  Why has cancer become 
more common?  The fact that people are living for longer is a factor.  Can something be done to 
prevent it?  Should people be more educated on prevention?

Another matter has come to my notice over the past few days.  Some people who are going 
to hospital to receive chemotherapy are being sent home because there is no bed.  Has this come 
to the attention of the witnesses?  They would consider it shocking but how common is it and 
what can be done about it?  It is shocking that somebody would be sent home because there is 
no bed and the person then misses out on that slot of chemotherapy.

Ms Averil Power: The cancer figures are predicted to double in the next 25 years by the 
NCRI.  There are two main reasons for that.  One is demographics.  Cancer is predominantly a 
disease of older people so as the population lives longer more people are likely to get cancer.  
The other key reason is lifestyle factors.  Factors such as obesity, alcohol and tobacco increase 
the likelihood of getting cancer.  We are all born with a certain risk of getting cancer and, as 
Professor Hennessy mentioned, while many cancers occur randomly, others are genetic.  How-
ever, by drinking alcohol excessively, not exercising enough and being overweight, we increase 
our likelihood of getting cancer.  The NCRI prediction of cancer numbers doubling is just a 
prediction and it is within our power as individuals, as an Oireachtas and as a society, to change 
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that prediction and make sure it does not happen.  Investment in cancer prevention is one of 
the main pillars of the national cancer strategy and it is very important.  By addressing cancer 
prevention, we can save lives by ensuring fewer people get cancer in the first place.

Regarding patients being sent home when they have presented for appointments, it happens 
for all types of appointments and not just those for chemotherapy.  The same happens for sur-
geries due to capacity issues in the hospitals.  It is a constant source of distress for patients who 
call our Nurseline or present at daffodil centres in hospitals and even when patients are referred 
to rapid access clinics because they have urgent symptoms.  The additional distress that comes 
from not being treated within the required timeframe is incredible.  On diagnostic tests when 
people have been told that they have symptoms that require urgent investigation and they had 
the test, it is a massive relief to find out that they do not have cancer, but they will have spent 
that entire period worrying about a possible cancer growing inside them.  That is unnecessary 
and incredibly upsetting for patients.  Tragically, others will find that by the time they have got 
a diagnosis their cancer may have progressed and be harder to treat than it would have been if 
they had been seen within the required timeframe, which is shocking.

There are a number of reasons for that.  One is capital infrastructure.  That is why it is 
important that the capital projects promised in the national cancer strategy are delivered on 
time and are not delayed by issues such as the overrun for the children’s hospital, which the 
committee discussed earlier.  It is also essential that workforce issues in the health service are 
addressed.  Research investment is a key part of that.  One of the reasons many Irish-trained 
consultants, nurses and other healthcare professionals who have gone abroad to get experience 
do not come home is that they will be unable to do research here because they do not have pro-
tected time.  We train amazing healthcare professionals to a very high standard in this country.  
They go abroad to get further experience in some of the best cancer centres in the world but then 
they must face the choice of coming home and not being able to do the type of research they can 
carry out in New York, Australia, New Zealand and other countries.  That is crazy.

As Professor Hennessy and Ms Mulroe said, patients do better in research active environ-
ments and one of the reasons is that research active hospitals and healthcare settings attract the 
best healthcare professionals.  The best people want to be able to carry out research and ensure 
their patients get access to new treatments and medicines.  They want to work in an environ-
ment where they have time, head space and access to treatment facilities that deliver the best 
care.  They do not want to work in a system that is chaotic.  Providing investment in research 
and protected time will also address the wider issues around attracting people home and filling 
the gaps in consultant, nursing and other posts in the health service.

Dr. Darrin Morrissey: I will address aspects of all Deputy Murphy O’Mahony’s questions.  
We acknowledge that cuts were made to the CTI budget over the past number of years.  The ra-
tionale for this is clearly linked to the diminution in our total funding.  Between 2008 and 2014, 
the HRB budget on the revenue side shrank from €36.9 million to approximately €30 million.  
It was a cut of 20% or so.  We held off on passing that cut on to CTI for a good number of years, 
but it was around 2015 onwards when that happened.  I am not justifying it in any way, but it 
needed to happen to allow us to have a balanced portfolio of investment.

The Deputy asked an interesting question about the reason for the increased number of 
cancer patients.  Improved diagnostic measures are a factor, but so is an increased survival rate.  
The Deputy then extended the question and spoke about cancer prevention.  In that context, we 
have increased our investment in areas of research into diabetes, obesity and lifestyle and links 
through to the generation of-----
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Deputy  Margaret Murphy O’Mahony: Is that about raising awareness?

Dr. Darrin Morrissey: It is about providing evidence of the need to increase investment, of 
who to target and of how to target.  For us, it is a question of having a balanced portfolio.  How-
ever, we have made a submission to the Department of Health for increased funding across our 
entire budget, including CTI.  That submission is under review.  I hope that there will be a step 
in our 2019 allocation towards a phased reversal of the original cuts.  That said, and to address 
the Deputy’s opening question, this is not just about cash.  Rather, it is about the complexity of 
funding and, as Ms Mulroe, Ms Power and Professor Hennessy have mentioned, the blend of 
support on the other side of the line in terms of infrastructure, people supports and people to de-
liver the trials, for example, better and more flexible staffing within hospitals to allow for more 
research time.  It is a complex blend overall and is not just about the direct funding of research.  
Its indirect component also needs to be factored it.

Deputy  Margaret Murphy O’Mahony: I thank Dr. Morrissey.

Chairman: I call Deputy Kelly.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I apologise for jumping in and out.  We must work out the issue of 
simultaneous Question Time and committee sittings.  It is not the Chairman’s fault.

I thank the witnesses for attending.  I have a number of questions and will start where Dr. 
Morrissey finished.  I congratulate him on his work and thank him for it.  Regarding the HRB’s 
discussions with the Department, it is obvious that Dr. Morrissey is managing a confined bud-
get.  It is concerning that there has not been a breakthrough in the board’s budget in recent 
times, given the knock-on effects on the other groups.  If there was one illness that the public, 
understanding everything, would like to see more funding for, it would be this.

We timed this right and brought the witnesses in first.  In light of the groups that will be be-
fore us in the next session, it might be helpful if Dr. Morrissey elaborated on how far down the 
road the HRB is in its discussions with the Department regarding the board’s overall funding 
and what it passes on to CTI.  The more information he can give us, the better.

Dr. Darrin Morrissey: Since 2015, which was our lowest point in revenue funding, we 
have had incremental increases in our budget.  It is important to acknowledge that, at a time 
the overarching pot for research funding was not growing apace, the Department of Health 
was able to provide increased funding.  If the 2019 funding comes in, we will be at a revenue 
level of €34 million within an overarching pot approaching €46 million.  There is growth.  In 
addition, the Department is driving some important infrastructural changes within the health 
research system.  These will allow for more efficient and increased research activity in future 
years and are fixing decades-long systemic issues in the system.  For example, a Bill that has re-
ceived Cabinet approval and whose heads are being developed as we speak deals with the issue 
national research ethics, an area that has seen a systemic impediment in the system.  With us, 
the Department may be able to deliver solutions in that regard.  Similarly, there was a risk that 
GDPR would get in the way of research.  The health research regulations Bill is a mechanism 
by which Ireland will be a high-quality location in which to do research in a data sense.

That said, there are many asks on our budget and CTI is only a component of that.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I can imagine.

Dr. Darrin Morrissey: We are maintaining the 10% of our budget dedicated to CTI and 
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the 20% across cancer research in general.  We are working actively with the Department on 
pushing particular priority angles.  Clinical research more broadly, including clinical research 
facilities and infrastructure, is one of the areas where we are in active discussion with the De-
partment.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I am conscious that the HRB is a State body and that Dr. Morrissey is 
dancing between the lines, but it is obvious that there is a degree of frustration.  From a budget-
ary point of view, the HRB is being asked to make decisions about the competing proposals 
being put to it.  From a CTI or overall cancer perspective, though, it is also obvious that there 
is not enough funding and that the HRB, while trying its best, could do much more with a little 
more funding.  Would it be fair to say that the HRB could make additional funding stretch?

Dr. Darrin Morrissey: It is fair to say, but I would point out that, as a research funder, we 
make use of a robust review process-----

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I understand that.

Dr. Darrin Morrissey: -----using international experts.  To be blunt, it is entirely possible 
for good causes in terms of research ideas and concepts not to pass international peer review.  
Sometimes, good ideas are just not quite good enough.  The Deputy should be aware of that.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: That is life.

Chairman: I believe Ms Mulroe wishes to contribute.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I was going to ask her a question.

Ms Eibhlin Mulroe: Was the Deputy?

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I believed Ms Mulroe would be the right person to go to next.

Ms Eibhlin Mulroe: Good man.  That is great, and I thank the Deputy.  It is important to re-
flect on the fact that the HRB is a research funder.  It is also a State body with its own board, and 
the board made the decision to cut our funding by 20% after the overall budget for the HRB was 
reduced.  However, the HRB funds research, which is what the 45 people in CTI do.  The least 
qualified person in our office has a masters in translational oncology.  It is not one bit intimidat-
ing.  These are the people who write protocols, monitor safety, quality and training, and engage 
in pharmacovigilance, covering all of the processes required in clinical trials for Irish patients 
to be safe.  That is expensive, and it is here where the HRB should be focused.  It is where the 
trials start and are monitored and it is from where the research ideas of people like Professor 
Hennessy come.  Consider the employment of research staff at hospital sites, including research 
nurses and data managers, and countries that do that well.  Denmark is akin to us.  Yesterday, I 
spoke to one of my colleagues in the Health Research Board-Clinical Research Co-ordination 
Ireland, HRB-CRIC.  Denmark is recruiting four times the number of people onto cancer trials 
than we are because it has integrated the budget line item for research staff in cancer units into 
hospitals.  The situation in the NHS is the same.  We do not have a budget line item for research 
in the HSE, and we never have had.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Is Ms Mulroe saying that it has been ring-fenced but is not being cir-
culated through the entire network as a research budget line?

Ms Eibhlin Mulroe: No budget has been ring-fenced.  Last week, I attended a site that 
could not employ more research staff.  It had one nurse and one data manager and was running 
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trials with patients.  It wants to do more.  A gynaecology trial is about to open, but the site has 
no research nurse.  We, as a charity, will have to try to employ a nurse for that hospital.  The 
same is happening throughout the system.  Universities employ nurses in the system to carry 
out research.  At this point, it is just not good enough.  Dr. Morrissey was politely trying to say 
the Health Research Board should fund research, but activity on hospital sites is in the area of 
care.  On access to a clinical trial, it is about caring for patients and providing the best option for 
parents.  Professor Hennessy will probably want to speak about this issue.  If we want to attract 
more people like him to the country to carry out research and work here, we will have to up our 
game because it is through research that we get a better standard of care for patients.  That is 
when we get the right people working in our centres.  As committee members know, it is a chal-
lenge to attract people to work in hospitals here, but I guarantee that if we increase investment 
in research and hospitals, it will happen.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: That is very revealing.

Professor Bryan Hennessy: I stress the point that international evidence tells us again and 
again that research active healthcare systems have better patient outcomes.  We are trying to get 
to that level.  If we are to improve our cancer trial activity levels and make cancer trials avail-
able to more patients, we really need to do two things, the first of which is to have a research ac-
tive healthcare system in which research activity is part and parcel of everything that happens.  
In other words, we need core-----

Deputy  Alan Kelly: In order that it is ingrained.

Professor Bryan Hennessy: Yes, but it is not.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Silos.

Professor Bryan Hennessy: Exactly.  It is regarded as an add-on.  In the hospital units in 
which others and I work we struggle day to day with funding for our activity and staff.  We 
receive much appreciated funding from the HRB and the Irish Cancer Society, but we have to 
seek supplemental funding from charities and through our own activities.  This is not the way it 
should be.  We should have stability.

A cancer trials unit should be a part of core hospital infrastructure.  The nurses, doctors and 
research staff should not be add-ons.  They should not have to be hired through the research unit.  
They should be an integral part of the hospital, like any other doctor, nurse, physiotherapist or 
other staff member, but they are not.  The first piece we need to advance the level of cancer tri-
als activity is core hospital infrastructure which is really the responsibility of the Department of 
Health.  The second thing we need, as Dr. Morrissey said, is direct funding for research that will 
go directly to our units to engage in research activity and trials, as well as our central office at 
Cancer Trials Ireland.  That is what the HRB should be funding.  It should not have to support 
core hospital infrastructure.  We need core hospital infrastructure and more direct funding from 
the HRB for research in our central office and hospitals throughout the country.

Ms Averil Power: Research is a basic component of any modern day health service and a 
core aspect of the system.  That is why it is mentioned in the national cancer strategy, of which 
recommendation No. 47 states the HSE will ensure clinical cancer research and the staff who 
deliver it will become a fully integrated component of cancer care delivery.  It should not be 
down to charities such as ours to fund basic components.  The Irish Cancer Society provides 
almost €500,000 a year for Cancer Trials Ireland, much of which is core funding which in other 



13 MARCH 2019

29

countries would be provided by the health service.  It should not be for us to fill the gap.  We 
want to be able to fund research programmes, not basic infrastructure.

Uniquely, we fund protected time for clinicians.  One of the big issues for researchers in 
Ireland is that they do not have dedicated time to carry out research as part of their contracts.  If 
medics working in our system want to carry out research and be part of a cancer trial, whether 
Irish or international, they have to do it on top of their existing contracts.  If people who already 
have insanely busy weeks and are under pressure to deliver basic clinical services want to con-
duct cancer research, they have to add another 20 or 30 hours from their own time to carry it out.  
That is crazy and impossible.  It is also unreasonable and the reason healthcare professionals 
do not want to return here from other countries where research is a core aspect of their day job.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: It is all interconnected.

Ms Averil Power: Absolutely.  That is why we need investment in infrastructure.  We need 
Cancer Trials Ireland to be funded to fill these core activities in order that we can dedicate chari-
table funding raised on Daffodil Day and through other initiatives to doing extra work, not fill-
ing a gap the State should be filling with funding any other decent health service would provide.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: As the Chairman is going to cut me off, I have one last question.  

What we have heard is very revealing.  For the committee, it is glaringly obvious and in 
flashing lights that we will have to follow up on this issue with the Department.  To break it 
down into two simple things, there is the funding issue - in fairness, Dr. Morrissey has been 
very diplomatic - and also an integrated process issue.  There is a process issue along the entire 
spectrum of the health system when it comes to research.  The issue has been isolated here in 
this instance as it pertains to cancer research.  The committee should come back to it.

I know Ms Power and do not want to leave without asking her a question about her state-
ment which was frank and direct, which is what I always expect from her.  I was very much 
taken by what she said about underfunding and underperformance.  She gave various statistics 
to outline the position at the end of 2018.  Specifically, she stated the HSE’s 2019 service plan 
explicitly stated the allocation for the National Cancer Control Programme, NCCP, would not 
enable the service to match referrals in services such as radiotherapy, rapid access clinics and 
diagnostics.  Will she elaborate on what she said as it is deeply concerning, although I was 
aware of it?  Will she elaborate on the scale involved?  Are there geographical issues involved?   
Are there other issues about which we need to know?  How much information does she have 
and how deep are the statistics she has available?

Chairman: I am conscious of  thetime as we have another session which I hope will start at 
noon.  I ask Ms Power to be concise in her answer.

Ms Averil Power: The allocation for the NCCP in 2019 represents an increase on the figure 
for last year.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I know that.

Ms Averil Power: As outlined, the numbers of Irish people with cancer are rising at such a 
rate that we need to invest a lot more just to stand still and maintain existing services.  There are 
completely unacceptable waiting lists for existing services such as screening, diagnostic tests 
and radiotherapy, let alone fulfil commitments given in the national cancer strategy.  That is 
why we call for more money to be given to the NCCP, in which there are excellent professionals 
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working who would like to do more, but they can only work within the budget they have been 
given by the Government which simply is not enough.  Patients are suffering as a result.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Does Ms Power have more deeper statistics?

Ms Averil Power: Waiting times for tests vary from hospital to hospital.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Will Ms Power provide us with statistics she thinks would be useful 
such as the level of geographical coverage?

Ms Averil Power: We will come back to the Deputy with them.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Perfect.

Senator  Colm Burke: I thank the delegates for their presentations.  It is important that 
we carry out a review of this very important issue.  I want to open on the issue raised by Dr. 
Morrissey - the need for a co-ordinated structure or group in this area.  Whom does he believe 
is responsible for developing it?  How does he believe it should be set up and within what tim-
escale?

Dr. Darrin Morrissey: To be direct, the NCCP is charged with setting it up.  It is some-
thing about which Dr. Coffey will speak.  The timeframe is now.  It needs to be set up now, 
with a broad cross-section of stakeholders.  Deputy Kelly used the word “interconnected”.  It 
is an interconnected system.  Therefore, a wide range of stakeholders are required.  Certainly, 
the Department of Health is four square behind it and central to it, as are the NCCP and the 
HSE.  In our submission we outlined the data.  We assessed the funding provided throughout 
the health service that trickled through to cancer research.  Whereas the Health Research Board 
is the biggest contributor, Science Foundation Ireland, the Irish Research Council and others 
also have a stake in the game.  The charity sector certainly needs to be involved.  We did not 
mention it, but it is arguable that there could be a role for industry at the table.  The system, as it 
develops, needs to be an enabling environment for industry players doing clinical trial activity, 
so they need to be involved.  As we put in our submission, the involvement of patients and the 
public is most critical of all, not just through representative groups but directly.  We propose 
a mechanism which is used by the James Lind Alliance, which is a mechanism for research 
prioritisation in the context of partnership.  That is a potential avenue to explore.  It would in-
volve a certain amount of investment because of the broad stakeholder group but there are other 
methodologies too.  With regard to timelines, we have been engaging directly in recent weeks 
and months about getting this group set up.

Senator  Colm Burke: Could Mr. Morrissey see that being established within the next six 
months?  Is that feasible?

Dr. Darrin Morrissey: I think so.

Senator  Colm Burke: We might mark that for review in six months, to try to set a timeline 
to get it set up.  Since this meeting started, I have got a number of texts from people involved in 
research who seem, for some reason or another, frustrated by the way the system operates.  Is 
there a situation where people feel left out of the structure of research?  Is there a reason why 
any one group of people working in the hospital structure feel left out and that they cannot get 
in to get support for the research that they want to do?  Have the witnesses come across that?

Professor Bryan Hennessy: Yes.  Much of that may reflect recognition and support from 
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the management of the existing hospitals.  As Ms Mulroe said, research is not a line item on 
the Department of Health’s priorities or budget.  In trying to put together cancer research units 
in the hospitals, we all face that struggle.  We have to do it ourselves and find our own budget 
on top of what we get from the Health Research Board and Irish Cancer Society.  We have to 
invest our own time, as Ms Power said, because we do not have protected time for research.  
We have to do those extra hours on top of the primary responsibilities without protected time 
for research.  That is all frustrating and fundamentally reflects the fact that research is not an 
integral part of our healthcare system.  It is not an integral part of the priorities recognised by 
the management of the different hospitals and it needs to be.

Senator  Colm Burke: Is it a situation where medical professionals who want to do this in 
their own time within the hospital structure are being restricted from doing it even though it is 
in their own time?

Ms Eibhlin Mulroe: Yes, I would say that.  Would Professor Hennessy, from his experience 
in a hospital?

Professor Bryan Hennessy: They are not being actively restricted from doing it but they 
are restricted in the sense that there is no support from management because it is not recognised 
as an integral part of the healthcare system.  They are restricted from doing it because of other 
commitments without a protected time for research.  When one has a busy clinical load, that 
is all that one can really do without a protected time for research.  That is an indirect block on 
developing a research programme or portfolio in a hospital because proper protected time is 
needed to do that, with recognition and support from hospital management, which needs to 
come down from the Department of Health.  Research needs to be an integral part of the health-
care system.

Dr. Darrin Morrissey: From a research funder’s perspective, it is important to say that we 
are open to everyone with qualifications to come in and we run programmatic calls so, in that 
sense, no one should feel excluded.  With Cancer Trials Ireland and other clinical trial networks, 
we try to put funding into the system to allow the best people to come together to deliver the 
right numbers of patients with the right specialty skills.  There is no doubt that it is incumbent 
on those networks to ensure that the net is cast very wide and that there are no impediments, 
whether infrastructural or otherwise.  As it happens, with Cancer Trials Ireland, we ran an in-
ternational review last year which was a positive review with regard to scientific outputs but 
it asked questions about appropriate structures and how financial flow happens through the 
system, especially in the context of interconnectedness between trial activity and it having to 
happen in hospitals, where there is change going on related to Sláintecare, regional integrated 
care organisations and such.  On the back of that recommendation to look at the structure, we 
are running a more finance and structure-oriented review, for which we are bringing the terms 
of reference to our board in the next few weeks.  It then will happen over the coming months 
to ensure that Cancer Trials Ireland is structurally fit for the future in a transforming healthcare 
system.

Ms Eibhlin Mulroe: It is crucial that Sláintecare builds a clinical research strategy into 
future planning.  I do not believe it is there.  If we are to integrate trial activity in hospitals, it 
needs to be in that document.  I am grateful that Dr. Morrissey has brought that up.  The Senator 
asked if there are any researchers and clinicians at hospital sites who are restricted from doing 
studies.  There is rarely anyone saying that someone cannot run a trial.  A contract for a trial 
could go to the CEO of one hospital and the same contract could go to another, and one hospital 
will not sign it while the other will.  That means that patients in the hospital where the contract 
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is not signed are taken out of the mix for access to clinical trials.  There is not continuity for 
how we approach simple things such as contracts for trials.  That needs to go at a very high 
level within the national cancer control programme, NCCP, and the HSE, and would solve some 
issues.  I imagine some of the researchers the committee has heard from have mentioned that.

The Senator asked if people feel left out.  Some 70% of the money that we distribute to hos-
pital sites does not come from the Irish Cancer Society, the Health Research Board or the HSE 
but from the money that we generate for our own trials.  That funds staff at hospital sites.  That 
comes from collaborative groups and from industry that are funding, investigating or initiating 
the study.  Dr. Morrissey is correct that industry should be involved in this conversation.  We are 
a funder and we are not part of the newly-established research group, yet we fund more trials 
on cancer.  I understand the rationale behind it because we are a charity.  We have looked at the 
figures and know exactly how much it costs to run a trial and how much we spend on every one 
of the 130 trials that we have on our books.  It is worth all of us reflecting on that.

Senator  Colm Burke: I got a paper prepared by the Oireachtas Library and Research Ser-
vice.  I know it was only prepared in ten days.  It is a comparison with other jurisdictions about 
cancer research.  In Denmark, the number of new clinical trials in 2016 was 0.0049% of the 
population whereas in Ireland it is 0.002%, so we are 50% lower than Denmark, which has a 
similar population to Ireland.  Denmark seems to have a very co-ordinated system.  That report 
stated that barriers to trial participation are structural, clinical, attitudinal and differ according 
to demographic and socioeconomic factors.  That finding was in a report produced in 2016 in 
a research project in the United States.  It is important to co-ordinate what is going on and, if 
possible, to double the numbers.  The witnesses’ contribution this morning can help us to move 
towards that.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I welcome our guests to discuss this important subject.  I 
have taken a particular interest over the years in cancer research, and particularly statistics.  
The correct statistical information gives an idea where attention should be directed.  In recent 
times, it has not been possible to get this information through parliamentary questions, whereas 
it had been in the past.  Now we are referred to the annual report.  The problem is that it is an-
nual.  There are no reports on a weekly, or bi-weekly basis, for instance.  I will engage with the 
Minister in an effort to change that.  I mean no disrespect to the people who compile them, but 
a report that is over a year old may lack accuracy.

Following on from Senator Burke’s questions, have the organisations represented here made 
comparisons with the outcomes in countries similar to Ireland, which spend more on cancer 
research, diagnostics, etc., so that we might know what should be done to achieve similar out-
comes?  They should be better but they may not be. 

Various forms of cancer, including melanoma, keep coming up again and again.  Early diag-
nosis is important but, again, public representatives cannot always get information on these on 
a regional basis.  It can be informative to find out the incidence of different cancers.  We have 
been told in the past that it was due to better diagnostics, healthcare or an emphasis on health-
care.  Do the witnesses have any information that would be useful?

More could be done on the educational element of cancer prevention.  Will the witnesses 
comment on that in respect of the various forms of cancer?  Some types come to mind in par-
ticular. 

 I refer to genetics.  I am interested in the extent to which those here have identified the 
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genetic tendency towards cancer.  There seems to be solid evidence for that.  I am aware of it 
but would like some more information about the extent to which there can be intervention at a 
crucial stage in the patient’s favour.  

I am sorry for going on for so long but I might not get another opportunity.  It is fully ap-
preciated that every aspect of the health services suffers from a lack of funding because of the 
downturn in the economy.  We cannot address that all in one go.  It is not easy.  It has been 
repeatedly brought to our attention through the HSE that to attract the right staff in the numbers 
required and to retain them, it must compete with Australia, America and Canada.  This is a 
difficult issue.  It is not easy for patients because they will feel they are entitled to the best pos-
sible treatment available as soon as it is available anywhere.  Patients have experience trauma 
because treatments available elsewhere are not available here for various reasons.  Perhaps it 
because we have been too slow to react or it is due to lack of funding, or there are other reasons.  
How can the most salient factors be addressed in the shortest time possible?

I refer to the availability and access to research through public and private sectors.  To what 
degree do the organisations represented rely on either the public or private sector?

Chairman: I thank the Deputy.  In the interests of time, we will bank those questions and 
I will ask Deputies Brassil and Donnelly to ask their questions before we move on to our next 
section.

Deputy  John Brassil: I welcome everyone for coming to the meeting and for the wonder-
ful work that they all do both collectively and individually.

My specific area of interest is in new drugs and their availability in the system.  Do the wit-
nesses find that the slowness by which drugs are made available or reimbursed is becoming a 
challenge to their strategy and trying to achieve targets?  We would like to be at the top end in 
life-saving.  We went from a survival rate of three out of ten to six out of ten.  Drugs are being 
developed to treat individual patients.  If that is the way drugs are going, will we be left behind 
as a result of the methodology used to reimburse drugs?  Is it necessary to separate oncology 
drugs from all other drugs because time is of the essence?  If someone is being treated and a 
doctor can get to them early, he or she can save the person’s life, but if he or she does not, there 
is an inevitable consequence.  

I would also like the witnesses’ opinion on drugs which are life-extending rather than life-
saving.  I have a specific interest in lung treatment where we are behind the curve.  The drug, 
Tagrisso, is reimbursed in 20 countries but not in Ireland.  It has significant life-extending ca-
pabilities for those taking it.  Are reimbursement delays a false economy for the health system 
because of the inevitable costs that follow when somebody enters end-of-life care?

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I have a question for the HRB.  What is the funding split be-
tween primary and applied research?  I have spoken to some of our scientists whose view is that 
funding for primary research has been largely stripped out in, say, the past ten years.  Several 
have described how they might have been working on particular molecules and undertaking 
basic research that could have led to all sorts of wonderful things but that research was stripped 
away.  They felt that they were essentially being outsourced to the pharmaceutical industry to 
conduct testing on their drugs and their impacts.  How much of cancer research is not linked to 
any specific drug or trial but is just core, basic lab-based research?

The next question is for the HRB and Cancer Trials Ireland.  Regarding all the trials that are 
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being funded, are any drugs publicly or co-owned or is all the intellectual property privately 
owned?  If all the intellectual property is privately owned - and this is essentially private com-
panies trialling their own products - what percentage on average do companies fund to trial their 
products versus the State or third parties for that?

I thank the HRB for its presentation, which was useful.  Its first recommendation was to es-
tablish a national cancer research group to improve co-ordination.  That sounds like something 
everyone would support.  What is the current status of that?  The second recommendation was 
to develop a culture in the cancer care system that values research, which struck me as bizarre.  
Professor Hennessy stated that there is a lack of recognition within the healthcare system to 
the effect that research is relevant.  That is as peculiar as hearing from the university sector 
that university professors do not believe research is relevant.  I do not believe it to be the case.  
Our medics may be so overworked that they never get the time to carry out research, and their 
incentives are misaligned.

Professor Bryan Hennessy: That was not referring to medics.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: The reference was to within the research system.  I would be 
astounded if it was true.  When Professor Hennessy refers to the healthcare system in this re-
gard, is he including doctors?  The third recommendation is to build patient and public trust by 
improving the use of cancer data.  I read through this and it sounds like the sort of thing a PhD 
student or a team of boffins could knock together in about a week.  I am probably oversimpli-
fying somewhat but we are talking about getting a bunch of existing datasets and doing clever 
things with the data.  Is that not something that could be knocked together very quickly?  There 
would be a need to hire very clever people.  Ultimately, however, the work involved would not 
appear to be difficult.

I was really taken by the Irish Cancer Society stating that six of the seven targets for imple-
mentation have been missed.  Why is that and what do its representatives think is going on?  We 
will shortly be talking to some of the people whose job it is to ensure implementation.  It is very 
stark that the HSE’s 2019 service plan explicitly states that the NCCP  allocation for this year 
will not enable the service to match referral demands.  That is pretty terrifying if we are saying 
it in our own delivery programme.  Why is that the case?  What does the Irish Cancer Society 
identify as the biggest opportunity?  It has listed about seven or eight things it would like to see 
but if there was one thing we could sort, what would be the most useful?

My final question to Cancer Trials Ireland relates to what Deputy Brassil stated.  We need to 
fund cancer trials.  My guess is that the per-patient cost is a lot greater than the cost providing 
them with approved drugs, although I know there are wildly different costs involved.  Could we 
have a sense in basic terms of how many patients we could treat with existing drugs for every 
patient on a trial?  I know it is a huge range but what would be the average?

Chairman: There are a lot of questions banked up there.  I ask our guests to deal with as 
many as possible before we move on.

Professor Bryan Hennessy: One issue that is key to these discussions is the value of re-
search in the healthcare system.  It relates back to the idea of creating core infrastructure in the 
hospitals for cancer trials for clinical research.  It is not a lack of value for research by medics, 
doctors or nurses.  In the system, from the Department of Health down, there is no recognition 
that research should be integral.  A hospital manager will have a ward that needs ten nurses.  It is 
part of his or her job to get ten nurses for that ward.  There is no recognition of cancer research 
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in that way.  There is no budget line item in hospital management or the Department of Health 
stating that the cancer trials unit in that hospital needs ten staff members to be hired.  While the 
hospital management will staff the wards, they will not staff a cancer trials unit at the moment 
because such units are not recognised as an integral part of the system.  We doctors and nurses 
in the research system have to staff our own cancer trials units with our own moneys from the 
Health Research Board, the Irish Cancer Society, Cancer Trials Ireland, charities, donations 
from patients and so on.  When we talk about valuing research in the healthcare system, we 
need the Department of Health, the NCCP, the HSE and hospital management to recognise the 
cancer trials unit as an integral part of the hospital as much as any ward in that hospital and for 
such units to be staffed accordingly.

Ms Eibhlin Mulroe: That describes the passion that exists in the system from the members 
of Cancer Trials Ireland, including the medical oncologists, radiation oncologists, haematolo-
gists and cancer research nurses who are working with patients every day.  Those patients are 
looking to them for other options and they do not turn their backs on them.  This organisation 
started 20 years ago to provide an opportunity for Irish patients with cancer to have another op-
tion.  Deputy Donnelly asked about the IP and the costs around that.  We commissioned DKM 
Economic Consultants to do an economic and health impact analysis in 2016.  We were able to 
prove that there were cost savings of €6 million in 2016 in drug costs.  That was for drug costs 
that would otherwise have been available within the system.  The Deputy asked how much more 
expensive it is to put a patient on a trial than not to do so.  It is actually cheaper for the system to 
put a patient on a trial.  That is in very crude terms.  We can prove it.  The health impact takes it 
a step further because that patient gets quality adjusted life years, or QALYs as they are known 
in health economics.  We have been able to prove that thousands of patients have had years of 
QALYs.  One QALY is one perfect year of life.  Many have got five to ten of them.  That is one 
of the reasons trials are so successful now; they are running longer because patients are surviv-
ing for longer.  The economic impact is very real.  It is probably going to increase over time.

Deputy Brassil talked about access and innovative treatments.  We are not in the business 
of health economics.  That is not what we do.  We run trials and the drugs we are working with 
are mostly experimental.  Very often with experimental drugs, we are comparing standard of 
care treatments with an investigational product.  Professor Hennessy may wish to jump in here.  
When that happens, if it is a pharmaceutical sponsored trial or if it is one of our investigator ini-
tiated trials, that drug is covered.  The cost of those drugs on both arms of the trial are covered.  
In terms of the access piece, it is going to be an issue.  I think the Irish Cancer Society will want 
to speak to that.  However, in the absence of that, as I mentioned earlier, we have a patient here 
who benefited from being on a trial in respect of a drug that was not available in the system.  
We up the game in clinical trials and offer more options to Irish patients, and they live longer.

Dr. Darrin Morrissey: Deputy Durkan’s question in the context of education was very 
good.  It is very important to educate the population and the healthcare professional community 
on the importance of prevention.  In collaboration with the National Cancer Institute in the US, 
we co-fund a series of fellowships in cancer prevention as well as courses in Bethesda for med-
ics and allied healthcare professionals.  Hundreds of those courses have been taken up.  These 
are the things we engage in which are important.

Deputy Donnelly used the term “primary research”.  The term we would use is basic bio-
medical research and the question is where that fits within the HRB brief.  There is no doubt 
that during what I will euphemistically call the austerity years, the focus for the Department of 
Health and the HRB definitely shifted towards the more applied end of research.  That is a mat-
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ter of fact.  We have moved increasingly away from funding basic research.  However, there is 
still a place in our portfolio for basic biomedical research.  Currently ,out of a revenue stream 
of approximately €35 million, in the region of €2 million is dedicated to basic biomedical.  That 
is across all disease areas, not for cancer necessarily.  We would have to examine the specific 
cancer data for that.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I know the Chair is trying to hurry us along.  However, to make 
one point on that, Dr. Morrissey lives and breathes this stuff and understands it better than I ever 
will.  A concern has been raised with me by numerous scientists independently of each other 
over the past few years.  Dr. Morrissey’s answer is frank; it is the most frank answer I have had 
and I thank him for it.  The concern they are raising is that we have to have a pipeline the whole 
time.  There is this balance in a technology-readiness pipeline, and there are all these different 
ways of looking at it.  Numerous scientists have informed me over the years that because of this 
shift away from basic research, we are starving the pipeline for the future.  We can still live on 
development and innovation from basic research done 20 or 30 years ago but, ultimately, it is 
going to catch up with us.

Dr. Darrin Morrissey: I have sympathy with that.  We have use the term “interconnected-
ness”; there are other funders in the system and we need to approach this in a national funding 
way.  Innovation 2020, the national research strategy, calls for a place for basic research fund-
ing, and it looks as if things are moving in this direction, as Science Foundation Ireland will 
play a bigger role.  The quantum of that role remains to be seen.  Engagements between the 
Health Research Board, as a more applied health research funder, and other funders, will allow 
a basic funding pot to flourish.  We engage with organisations such as The Wellcome Trust.  We 
co-fund with it and pull leverage funding into the State for use for basic funding.  We do the 
same with the National Institute for Health in the United States, and others. 

I wanted to address many points but I am aware that we are running out of time.  The data 
issue is more complex than has been outlined.  The recommendation is founded on the issues 
that abound whatever jurisdiction one is in, in the context of data governance, mining people’s 
data, and data protection.  Linkage is not easy.  A lot of investment has come into this area, most 
notably from companies based in Northern Ireland, in order to set up safe havens for data link-
age, using principles that the CSO would know a lot about.  We wrote a paper in 2016, known 
as the data access, storage, sharing and linkage, DASSL report.  I have copies of the report and 
am very happy to hand them out.  It makes proposals which the Department of Health is minded 
to run with.  It is more complex, but we believe there is a solution within it.  

On the subject of intellectual property, IP, ownership, all funders in Ireland sign up to the 
national IP management protocol.  The simple answer to the question Deputy Donnelly asked 
about the percentage that flows through each project is that it depends on the project and the 
skin in the game that the industry or private sector partner has.  The rules are laid out in the 
national IP framework, which is linked to state aid and European legislation.  That is a simple 
answer.  

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: In broad terms what is the average?

Dr. Darrin Morrissey: I do not know.

Ms Eibhlin Mulroe: Cancer Trials Ireland is a charity; it has no IP.  I could talk again about 
patient organisations which have run and lead their own research.  We are not able to.
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Ms Averil Power: I will answer some questions and my colleague, Mr. Buggy, will answer 
the rest.  Deputy Brassil asked about access to medicines.  There is no doubt that there is huge 
potential for personalised medicines to transform patient experiences and outcomes.  It is par-
ticularly stressful for patients, especially those with a terminal diagnosis, to know that there is 
a new medicine that could either save or extend their lives but which they cannot access, par-
ticularly in circumstances where the same medicine is available across the water through the 
NHS.  It is a big issue and it is a growing issue.  Patients feel that they are caught in the middle 
between the Government and the industry.

The National Centre for Pharmacoeconomics, NCPE, has quite a transparent process which 
looks at the data and interrogates the proposition put forward by pharmaceutical companies.  
After the recommendation is made it goes to the Department and the into the political system, 
which is a black hole.  There is a sense among patients that decisions are very political and that 
there is no fairness to the process.  It seems to be a case of shouting the loudest, which is an ap-
proach that is particularly distressing for patients.  We need a fair system that is based on data, 
one in which a patient can be confident that if his or her doctor believes that his or her particu-
lar type of cancer will respond to a new medication that he or she will be able to get access to 
it.  These medicines are expensive, and they do not work for everybody.  We need to educate 
patients in that area, because sometimes they read about so-called miracle drugs through the 
media, and believe that because it has worked for one patient with a particular type of cancer it 
will work for them as well.  Unfortunately that is not the case.  Where the data is strong enough, 
however, and where the NCPE is satisfied that there is a clinical and pharmacoeconomical ben-
efit to providing that medicine it should be provided.  That is a big issue.  

Deputy  John Brassil: Does Ms Power have figures on how we compare to the EU aver-
ages for the time of reimbursement for new drugs?  Is she does not have it perhaps she could 
forward it to me.

Ms Averil Power: We can provide those figures.

Deputy Donnelly asked what is the biggest opportunity in this area, and what is the one thing 
we can do which would make the biggest difference.  In the medium to long term the answer 
is cancer prevention, given the fact that four out of every ten cancers are preventable though 
things such as the HPV vaccination and through lifestyle changes.  We each have it within our 
power as individuals and as a society to ensure that cancer numbers do not double over the next 
25 years, as predicted.  That would make a massive difference.  In the short term early diagno-
sis would help.  A frightening number of Irish patients - some 3,000 a year - are diagnosed in 
emergency departments.  Approximately three quarters of those cancers are at a late stage, when 
the cancer is difficult, if not impossible, to treat.  There is no doubt that thousands of lives could 
be saved if people were diagnosed earlier, and if we tackled those issues around waiting lists.  

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: How do those numbers-----

Chairman: We have to move on.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I am aware of that, but I have been here since 9 o’clock this 
morning.  Has there been any comparison between those who have had the benefit of early di-
agnosis and those who have not?

Ms Averil Power: For testicular cancer, if it is found at an early stage 19 out of 20 patients 
will survive, but at a late stage only one in ten will.  The difference is massive.  The best way 
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to save the lives of people with cancer is to diagnose people early.  Earlier diagnosis means that 
the treatment options are much wider and the chances of survival are greater.  Unfortunately, for 
far too many patients, that is not happening, and lives are being lost as a result.

Mr. Donal Buggy: On the question of outcomes for cancer, when we first organised cancer 
into ten-year strategies in 1996 outcomes for cancer in Ireland were the worst in western Eu-
rope.  We are now mid-table, and we have got there by implementing ambitious cancer strate-
gies, which shows that the ten-year process strategy works.  In comparison to other countries, 
Denmark, Norway and Austria have better outcomes for cancer than we do.  We can, through 
the implementation of this strategy over the next ten years, achieve the target of getting from 
mid-table to the top quartile of cancer outcomes in Europe.  That is the prize available if we 
choose to invest in this particular strategy.  We should make that choice to invest in the research, 
the services, the co-ordination and the networks required to deliver world-class cancer care.

The other point raised concerned genetics.  Genetics and genetic services are a challenge.  
Funding is not available to support comprehensive genetic services.  I am aware of services 
in St. James’ Hospital, but they were suspended last year because the symptomatic numbers 
coming through overwhelmed that system.  There is leadership in that area, but we have to put 
funding behind it.  Another issue is access to preventative surgery once one has been brought 
though those genetic services.  If one requires preventative surgery can he or she access it?  It 
is considered elective at times.  

A question on cancer prevention and education was asked.  Cancer prevention has been one 
of the areas of progress in terms of this strategy and the development of a cancer prevention 
network and a cancer prevention function within the NCCP.  That is vital because, as Ms Power 
said, four in ten cancers are preventable.  Over the course of this strategy over 100,000 people 
will get a cancer which is preventable through changes in lifestyle.  Unfortunately, the changes 
we make now will not be seen for 20 or 30 years, but unless we act now cancer rates will double 
by 2045, as predicted.  

Chairman: We could speak about this subject all day; many of the witnesses want to con-
tinue speaking.  Unfortunately there is another set of witnesses who have to come in, and we 
have a time limit on the availability of the room.  I thank the witnesses - Professor Hennessy and 
Ms Eibhlin Mulroe from Cancer Trials Ireland, Ms Averil Power and Mr. Donal Buggy from the 
Irish Cancer Society, and Dr. Morrissey and Ms Mairead O’Driscoll from the Health Research 
Board - most sincerely.

  Sitting suspended at 12.20 p.m. and resumed at 12.25 p.m.

Chairman: We will continue examining the national cancer strategy.  The next group of 
witnesses comprises Dr. Ana M. Terrés, head of research and development at the HSE, Dr. 
Jerome Coffey, national cancer control programme, NCCP, at the HSE, Mr. Michael Conroy, 
principal officer in the cancer policy unit at the Department of Health, Ms Judith Corcoran, as-
sistant principal in the cancer policy unit at the Department of Health, and Ms Teresa Maguire, 
head of research services at the Department of Health.  I thank them for attending and apologies 
for keeping them waiting.

By virtue of section 17(2)(l) of the Defamation Act 2009, witnesses are protected by abso-
lute privilege in respect of their evidence to the committee.  However, if they are directed by the 
committee to cease giving evidence on a particular matter and they continue to do so, they are 
entitled thereafter only to a qualified privilege in respect of their evidence.  They are directed 



13 MARCH 2019

39

that only evidence connected with the subject matter of these proceedings is to be given and are 
asked to respect the parliamentary practice to the effect that, where possible, they should not 
criticise or make charges against any person, persons or entity by name or in such a way as to 
make him, her or it identifiable.  Any opening statements that the witnesses may have made for 
the committee may be published on the committee’s website after the meeting.  Members are 
reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that they should not comment 
on, criticise or make charges against a person outside the House or an official either by name or 
in such a way as to make him, her or it identifiable.

I invite Mr. Conroy to make his opening statement.

Mr. Michael Conroy: I thank the committee for the opportunity to contribute to its exami-
nation of the National Cancer Strategy 2017-2026.  I am joined by Dr. Teresa Maguire, head of 
research services unit at the Department of Health, and Judith Corcoran from the cancer policy 
unit.

The national cancer strategy is a comprehensive policy document that aims to meet the 
needs of cancer patients in Ireland for a ten-year period.  It is the third national strategy and 
builds on the history of strong policy in cancer over the past 20 years.  The main achievements 
of the 2006 strategy included: provision of equal access to high-quality treatment; the estab-
lishment of designated cancer centres; multidisciplinary management as the standard of care 
for cancer patients; the centralisation of some cancer surgery services; rapid-access clinics for 
breast, lung and prostate cancer; significant increases in access to medical oncology and cancer 
drug treatment; a national programme for radiation oncology; and cancer screening on a nation-
wide basis through BreastCheck, CervicalCheck and BowelScreen.

The establishment of the NCCP to implement the strategy recommendations, followed in 
2007.  The National Cancer Strategy 2017-2026 is aligned with Sláintecare and its implementa-
tion is an important part of the Sláintecare action plan.  The vision of the strategy is, “Together 
we will strive to prevent cancer and work to improve the treatment, health and wellbeing, ex-
periences and outcomes of those living with and beyond cancer.”  We developed the strategy 
in collaboration with clinicians, nurses, health and social care personnel, patients, carers and 
organisations such as the Health Research Board and the Irish Cancer Society.  The strategy 
sets out four goals, namely, reducing the cancer burden, providing optimal care, maximising 
patient involvement and quality of life, and enabling and assuring change, that are crucial to the 
achievement of the vision.

On reducing the burden, cancer prevention is a cornerstone of the strategy.  The proportion 
of cancer incidence attributable to modifiable lifestyle and environmental factors is estimated 
to be between 30% and 40%.  Of these risk factors, smoking has by far the largest impact and, 
in implementing the strategy, we are working towards the goal of making Ireland tobacco free 
by 2025, including through the enactment of legislation on standardised retail packaging for to-
bacco.  We also need to maintain our efforts to reduce the number of avoidable cancers through 
the promotion of healthy lifestyles, in areas such as improved diet, increased exercise and re-
duced alcohol intake.  We are focused on diagnosing cancer at the earliest possible stage as a 
critical step in reducing mortality and improving survival and quality of life.  Public and health 
professional awareness of warning signs for cancer is vital.  Early presentation is important, as 
is ensuring that people take up the offer of cancer screening.

In regard to optimal care, the primary aim for all cancer services is to provide evidence-
based care that is effective, safe, of high quality and patient-centred.  The concept of a continu-
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um of care will underpin the approach to patient services, from prevention, early diagnosis and 
evidence-based, high-quality, patient-centred treatment to appropriate follow-up and support.  
Multidisciplinary team working has led to better decision-making, more co-ordinated patient 
care and improvements in the overall quality of care.  It is proposed that all patients diagnosed 
with cancer will have their cases formally discussed at multidisciplinary team meetings.  This 
strategy is building on the progress made to date through supporting the key role of designated 
cancer centres in cancer treatment.  The centralisation of surgical services for more cancers is 
being progressed and radiation oncology and medical oncology will continue to be improved 
and expanded.

A report in January from the National Cancer Registry confirmed that the programme of 
centralisation of cancer services is contributing to ongoing improvements in cancer survival.  
In addition, the CONCORD programme established global surveillance of cancer survival as 
a metric of the effectiveness of health systems.  The most recent programme data from 2014 
indicates that, in Ireland, survival has increased for all tumour types studied.  Our aim now is 
that survival rates in Ireland will reach the top quartile of European countries by the end of the 
strategy period.

Patient involvement is a key aspect of the strategy.  We now have an increasing number 
of cancer survivors with their perspectives to offer on the development of services for cancer 
patients.  Building on the significant impact of the cancer patient forum in developing this 
strategy, a cancer patient advisory committee is now in place and patient involvement in policy-
making and the delivery of services is being promoted in the implementation of the strategy.  
With many people living significantly beyond cancer diagnosis and treatment, there is a need 
to develop and implement survivorship programmes.  This has consistently been a key concern 
of patient representatives whose focus is on quality of life.  These programmes will emphasise 
physical, psychological and social factors that affect health and well-being, while being adapt-
able to people with more specific survivorship needs following their treatment.

The NCCP provides leadership across the continuum of cancer care.  It promotes the provi-
sion of high-quality, evidence-based care to optimise outcomes and patient experience.  The 
NCCP has been instrumental in reforming and improving how services have been delivered.  
Under this strategy, the NCCP is working closely with hospital groups and community health-
care organisations to lead service reorganisation and to ensure that integrated care pathways 
are provided for those affected by cancer.  The focus is on ensuring that the objectives of the 
strategy will continue to underpin decisions on cancer care across the health service.

The strategy emphasises the positive impact of research activity on patient care.  The de-
velopment of a culture in the cancer care system that values research to the benefit of patients 
is an aim of the strategy.  The data collected and managed by the national cancer registry are 
a foundation for research activity to drive improvements in cancer care for patients.  Cancer 
research also supports the recruitment, retention and motivation of excellent clinical staff who 
drive the development of high-quality, efficient services.

The first National Cancer Strategy 2017-2026 implementation report for 2018 was pub-
lished the Minister on 4 February.  This report focuses on the implementation of the 52 rec-
ommendations.  Highlights include legislation on standardised retail packaging for tobacco, 
the passage of the Public Health Alcohol Act 2018, progress towards a national skin cancer 
prevention plan, new posts in medical and surgical oncology, capital developments relating to 
radiation oncology, publication of a model of care for oral anti-cancer medications, the com-
mencement of the roll-out of a national cancer information system, the progress being made by 
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working groups on survivorship and psycho-oncology and the establishment of a cancer patient 
advisory committee.

The Department and the NCCP are working together to ensure that progress is maintained 
on the implementation of the strategy.  We hold monthly performance oversight meetings as 
well as quarterly review meetings specifically focused on reviewing progress on the implemen-
tation of the strategy recommendations.  The strategy was formulated with the input of all stake-
holders and it enjoys broad support.  The Department and the NCCP are committed to working 
with these stakeholders to progress its implementation so that many people will avoid cancer in 
the coming years and those with cancer will receive comprehensive quality treatment and will 
maximise their quality of life following their treatment.

Chairman: I thank Mr. Conroy and now ask Dr. Jerome Coffey from the NCCP to make an 
opening statement.

Dr. Jerome Coffey: I am accompanied by my colleague Dr. Ana Terrés, head of research 
and evidence of the HSE.  We submitted two presentations to the committee already.  In this 
brief opening statement, we would like to focus on the development of cancer services in Ire-
land over the term of the national cancer strategy to 2026 and the roles of the NCCP and the 
HSE’s research and evidence function in this.

In May 2015, the steering group and patient forum charged with developing the third nation-
al cancer strategy were established.  Working on this, it became clear how much had changed in 
cancer services since publication of the previous strategy in 2006.  The programmatic approach 
and the national scale of organisation and investment have been commended by an international 
external evaluation panel and are in alignment with EU cancer control principles.  Recom-
mendations in the strategy are also consistent with a number of areas in the Sláintecare report, 
published by the Committee on the Future of Healthcare in May 2017.  These include citizen 
engagement and empowerment, integration of care and meeting population needs, service de-
sign care pathways, infrastructure, e-health and quality of care.

As is clear in the implementation report for 2018 published by the Department last month, 
there has been considerable progress to date.  I am particularly pleased that clinical leaders have 
been appointed in cancer nursing, psycho-oncology and for children, adolescents and young 
adults with cancer.

In the area of cancer research there is broad agreement, as described here earlier this morn-
ing, that permanent funding for core research staff is essential within a HSE framework of sup-
port and research governance which will enable the growth of clinical research and facilitate 
collaboration with both industry and the academic sector.

Developing the strategy, and the initial phase of its implementation, is the result of col-
laboration between the relevant elements of the healthcare system with the registered charities, 
greatly enhanced by increasing levels of public and patient involvement.  We reiterate the im-
portance of the third national cancer strategy as an appropriately ambitious plan for the further 
development of cancer prevention and patient care and look forward to the ongoing support of 
the committee for this work.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I thank our guests for their detailed presentations.  I have 
printed out approximately 200 pages over the past day or two.

My first question relates to cancer policy for the State and is for the officials from the De-
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partment.  What are the biggest opportunities over the next one to five years in reducing the 
prevalence of cancer?

Mr. Michael Conroy: The single biggest opportunity area is prevention.  Ms Power quoted 
a figure of 40%, and there are various figures, but between 30% and 40% of cancers are pre-
ventable.  Distinct policies for cancer have been developed since 1996.  We were below the 
international curve in 1996 but have gradually come up to mid-table since then.  We need, in 
the future, to build on the successes we have had in the past.  We have a lot of emphasis on 
prevention in the first yer and a half of implementation of the strategy.  We are going about that 
in an integrated way with Healthy Ireland.  It is part of the overall prevention message of the 
Department and many of the messages about protecting people from cancer are the same as 
those about protecting people from other illnesses.

There is an ever-increasing number of people living with and beyond cancer because of the 
successes in treatment we have had over the past ten years.  Many people have been diagnosed, 
had cancer and are now out of it, have survived and are living well beyond cancer.  There are 
170,000 people in that category.  I could talk about developments in treatment but let us focus 
on the aftermath for a moment.  In our discussions around the development of strategy, I par-
ticularly remember a patient who talked about looking forward to coming out of treatment and 
being told she was clear of cancer.  When she got to that day, instead of a feeling of euphoria, 
she described a feeling of fear about losing a comfort blanket and wondering what to do.  Struc-
tures are needed in that regard.  That is something we are working closely with patients on.  We 
are also working hand in hand across the voluntary sector and so on.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: It is said to me reasonably regularly that Ireland is poor at pub-
lic health investment.  We do some things spectacularly well in healthcare but, on a comparative 
basis to the OECD or EU countries, our investment and activity in public health and prevention 
is pretty poor.  Does Mr. Conroy agree?

Mr. Michael Conroy: I do not know the relevant figures and it depends on what country-----

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Let us say at an OECD or EU level.

Mr. Michael Conroy: Ms Maguire or Dr. Coffey might want to come in on that question.

Dr. Jerome Coffey: I will come in on that.  This country has a good record and it comes 
from legislation that is world class.  We are ahead in the world when it comes to tobacco con-
trol, sunbed use and with the Public Health (Alcohol) Act.  We have good legislation.  In terms 
of public health community support, departmental policy and legislation, we are ahead of the 
game.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: It is my understanding that our investment in preventative pub-
lic health measures as a percentage of our overall healthcare budget is low.  Prevention seems 
to represent the biggest opportunity.  Is there an opportunity to increase the effectiveness of 
funding by channelling more into prevention?

Dr. Jerome Coffey: I would say that prevention is not a high-cost initiative and that it gets 
appropriate prioritisation in the cancer strategy.  In the cancer control programme we have four 
public health specialists contributing to Healthy Ireland but also developing and establishing 
the Irish cancer prevention network.  Again, it is a question of organisation, looking at the evi-
dence and implementing it.  It is not about finding huge amounts of additional funding to make 
a change.
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Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: It has been suggested that there is a big opportunity for us to 
get better at early detection.  Do the witnesses have a plan in that regard and do they agree with 
that analysis?  What are the opportunities in the context of earlier detection?

Dr. Jerome Coffey: There are a number of answers to that question, one of which is aware-
ness.  Credit is due to the Irish Cancer Society and other charities that have conducted excellent 
awareness campaigns.  The campaign on lung cancer, for example, outlines the symptoms that 
suggest lung cancer, until proven otherwise, and recommends that patients go to their GP and 
have a chest X-ray.  We are working towards longer, more sustained public awareness cam-
paigns and are also working with the education system.

In the context of the discussion on early diagnosis that came up in the previous session, I 
have just looked up the numbers and the rate of first-time presentations by patients with cancer 
to an emergency department is approximately 13%.  The metric in the strategy is to reduce that 
by half over the lifetime of the strategy.  

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I am going to ask about a local issue now.  I am not asking 
about my own locality but about Sligo.  In 2006, Sligo was deemed not to be one of the centres 
of excellence.  This is causing a lot of problems for people, particularly in Donegal.  They are 
having to travel very long distances to Galway.  Many are very sick and some are old.  Nobody 
who needs need major surgery has an issue with travelling to Galway.  It is the weekly, or 
sometimes daily, trips for treatments like radiotherapy and chemotherapy that are causing the 
difficulty.  A lot of people believe that not setting up a treatment centre, as distinct from a surgi-
cal centre, in Sligo in 2006 was a mistake.  They believe it should be considered going forward.  
Are there any plans to analyse that or to set something like that up?

Mr. Michael Conroy: I will come in here if I may.  Before answering that question, I wish 
to point to screening in the context of early diagnosis, which is a major part of the programme.

Under the previous cancer strategy, surgery was centralised in eight designated cancer cen-
tres based on a population of 500,000 per centre, roughly.  That is considered to be one of the 
major successes of the previous strategy in terms of outcomes.  It is a proven fact that where 
one has cancer surgery carried out by surgeons who have experience of doing a lot of surgery 
alongside other surgeons who are also doing a lot of surgery, it works to the benefit of patients.  
That is accepted internationally.  

On Sligo and Donegal, I have had numerous interactions with people from Donegal about 
cancer services.  Breast cancer is the major cancer in terms of numbers for surgery and treat-
ment and cancer surgery is carried out in Letterkenny University Hospital.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: I do not mean to be rude but we are pressed for time.  My spe-
cific question is whether therapy is being considered in Sligo.

Mr. Michael Conroy: A change in the current structure is not being considered in Sligo 
but-----

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Radiotherapy or chemotherapy services or some-----

Mr. Michael Conroy: I was coming to that point.  I will ask Dr. Coffey will speak about 
Altnagelvin Hospital.

Dr. Jerome Coffey: Access to the North West Cancer Centre at Altnagelvin is a huge step 
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forward for the people of the north west.  It is important to say that while there are eight desig-
nated cancer centres, in a large number of hospitals there are chemotherapy day wards that are 
delivering care close to home.  That principle is already there and will not be changed.  We must 
maximise the non-cancer centres’ ability to deliver diagnostics and follow-up so that patients do 
not have to travel for everything, from diagnosis through to follow-up.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: Most or all of the witnesses sat through the previous session 
and will have heard strong allegations made about the prioritisation of clinical trials and re-
search.  My sense is that the issue concerns funding or, more correctly, funding cuts.  It also 
concerns, very interestingly, culture.  The allegation was made that while clinicians value re-
search, the system - meaning HSE management, departmental officials and politicians - does 
not value it, has not funded it, has not aligned incentives so that it is a smart career move for 
people and has not created the processes where space can be carved out for clinical trials.  Do 
the witnesses accept any of those criticisms?  How would they respond?

Mr. Michael Conroy: I will make an opening comment in the context of the cancer strategy 
and then refer to my colleagues in the HSE on the matter.  There are three recommendations 
on research in the strategy.  The first is to establish a national cancer research group to move 
on research co-ordination, fostering a supportive environment, setting research priorities and 
so on.  The second is to ensure that clinical cancer research and the staff who deliver it become 
fully integrated as a component of cancer care, which relates to the point made by Deputy Don-
nelly.  The third recommendation is to examine mechanisms to ensure that newly appointed 
consultants have time allotted to research.  The fact that this is in the strategy illustrates that we 
accept the basic point the Deputy is making, namely that there is more to be done in this area.  
The current strategy is very much building on the previous one and we accept that research is 
an area that has not been developed as much as it could have been.  There is a commitment in 
the strategy to this area, particularly through the cancer research group which will be set up in 
the first six months of this year.

There have been a lot of steps forward in cancer research.  Cancer is one of the areas where 
research is a lot more developed than in other areas of the health sector.  There is an opportunity 
to use cancer as a lead in terms of making improvements.  In that context, I would mention the 
cancer registry, to which tribute was paid earlier.  It has the data and experience upon which we 
can build in order to increase capabilities-----

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: While I do not want to put words in his mouth, it sounds like 
Mr. Conroy broadly accepts the criticisms made earlier with regard to cancer research.  Given 
that research is included in the cancer strategy and that there is a broad acceptance that it has not 
had the priority it deserves, when can clinicians, researchers and patients expect to see things 
being done differently on the ground?

Dr. Jerome Coffey: I accept entirely the Deputy’s point and the points made earlier this 
morning.  Research must be prioritised.  It was not possible to prioritise it ten years ago because 
there were so many other higher priorities.  Given where we are now, however, it is absolutely 
essential that we do it.  The criteria for cancer centres must include a research unit.  Patients 
must be given access to such units and there must be staff there to deliver the research.  In terms 
of when the public can expect to see change in that regard, we have had a number of engage-
ments over the last year and since the publication of the strategy on how to do this.  We have 
had engagements with the Irish Cancer Society, the Health Research Board, HRB, and Science 
Foundation Ireland, SFI.  We now have a research and knowledge programme within the HSE 
which is a significant step forward.  Before the end of this year we will have a research group, 
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terms of reference, members and a plan for the future.  I would like to get that done before the 
Estimates process and service planning for next year begins.

Deputy  Stephen Donnelly: On implementation, one of the things we have all become 
used to and which is replicated all over the world, is that plans are brought forward, strategies 
are devised, steering groups are set up but there can be an unmerciful time delay from all of 
that administrative activity through to things actually happening on the ground, in hospitals, 
for example.  Do the witnesses have any sense of when this will be up and running?  I do not 
know how many cancer research clinicians we have but I suspect it is a relatively small number.  
When will life become materially easier for them in terms of pursuing research agendas around 
cancer trials and so forth?  When will they feel a difference?

Dr. Jerome Coffey: We are not starting from year zero.  Cancer trials in Ireland have been 
highly successful over two decades in producing a lot of research activity pro bono at week-
ends.  That is the level.  There is great commitment from existing medical and nursing staff.  
The question is when we can get the core infrastructure to add to their capacity to deliver re-
search in the cancer centres more broadly.

My hope would be that the 2020 service plan will have a line stating, “Development fund-
ing for the cancer control programme, of which the Minister will direct that a certain amount is 
towards cancer research.”  That is my hope and ambition but there will obviously be negotiation 
before that happens.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Continuing with that theme, we would like to help Dr. Coffey with 
that hope.  That is the purpose of the committee.  I think we are all on the one page on this, 
which is good.

Based on what we were told this morning, there is serious concern.  I do not doubt that what 
Dr. Coffey says is his wish and desire.  However, we have been here previously on other mat-
ters.  Often they do not happen or if they do, it takes much longer.  We are behind and need to 
catch up.  What percentage of patients have been on clinical trials over the past three years on 
average?

Dr. Jerome Coffey: The percentage when the cancer strategy was being drafted in about 
2017 was 3% at that time.  It varies up and down.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: What is it now?

Dr. Jerome Coffey: I do not know what it is in 2018.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Will Dr. Coffey come back and inform the committee?

Dr. Jerome Coffey: Yes.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I ask for the figures for 2016, 2017, 2018 and to date in 2019.  Knowl-
edge of the trend will inform the committee.  With all the will in the world if the trend is not 
in the right direction, the witnesses’ proposals will not be met with much enthusiasm.  Deputy 
Donnelly took the words out of my mouth.  This is not seen to be a policy priority for those in 
public service or political life because it cannot be seen out there.  It is just not good enough and 
we need to change that rapidly because we are so far behind.

I was impressed by what the previous witnesses said about future policy.  It is obvious that 
there are two sides to this.  Obviously we need to increase funding.  This is probably a question 
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for Mr. Conroy.  How will funding be increased?  What percentages are being considered?

How will we ingrain the process, for want of a better term?  Dr. Coffey pointed to a require-
ment for permanent funding for research staff etc.  That is totally agreed, but it is way bigger 
than that.  It needs to be part of the whole process.  It needs to be ingrained throughout the HSE 
and needs to be part of the hospital network.  How can we ensure that happens quickly?

Mr. Conroy is probably in a better position to answer the question on funding.  Dr. Coffey 
is probably in a better position to answer the question on whether the process can be ingrained 
through this new strategy, for which I have no doubt he is an advocate.

Mr. Michael Conroy: Funding is always a challenge.  I have made the point that this is in 
the strategy.  With the previous strategy we have a record of implementation.  We have a very 
open approach to this strategy in terms of what we have done so far in publicising it and so on.  
We have an open door to dealing with all the cancer interest groups and so on.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: It is very unusual that they would all stay back for the second half, by 
the way.

Mr. Michael Conroy: I would be surprised and perhaps disappointed if they did not.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Joking.

Mr. Michael Conroy: We have used a very collaborative approach in developing this strat-
egy.  I think the fact that research is up in lights with commitments with three recommendations 
out of 52 shows some commitment to it, along with other associated recommendations across 
the strategy relating to the cancer registry and so on.  I cannot give the Deputy a straight answer.  
When we got approval for the cancer strategy from Government in 2017, the funding would 
have been tied in with the Estimates process each year and so on.  We work very closely with 
the NCCP on the details of and have for the period of the whole strategy.  On an annual basis we 
also work with the NCCP on jointly drawing up the Estimate proposals which ultimately come 
in to us.  We are committed to achieving this.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Mr. Conroy has no idea of the future funding percentages.

Mr. Michael Conroy: I cannot give the Deputy a straight answer to that.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I am not asking for specifics.  As regards prioritisation in the Depart-
ment, will we see an increase?

Mr. Michael Conroy: Regarding research on the cancer side, I certainly hope so, but I can-
not give a commitment on that.  Dr. Terrés or Dr. Coffey may wish to comment on the develop-
ment of research more broadly.  I think the appointment of a cancer research lead and so on in 
the HSE shows that there is a change.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I accept that.  It is not an issue.  What about the process?

Dr. Jerome Coffey: On the total funding, in 2018 we had €85.8 million to put into systems, 
increasing to €94.7 million.  So the trend is up.  We have to take a chunk of that and put it into 
research.  As for what is the process to get research-----

Deputy  Alan Kelly: Let us say the amount spent on trials.

Dr. Jerome Coffey: In terms of process, if a new consultant post is funded and approved, 



13 MARCH 2019

47

it goes to the consultant appointments advisory committee but it comes to me to sign off the 
job description of what it is.  For example, the current principle is that we will increase the 
amount of research time on a consultant contract.  A hospital came to me and said they had 
one session and I said no, because the strategy says we need to increase to at least double that.  
Consequently, I push back and I will not approve a new post until there is a significant increase 
in the research sessions on that contract.  That is a very pragmatic part of the process that we 
have already started.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I have three final questions.  I know the Chairman is trying to manage 
time and it has been a long day.  What is the average time for reimbursement for oncology drugs 
versus the EU average?  I ask this because of evidence given here by Mr. Shaun Flanagan some 
months ago.  There seems to be a process whereby we hold out to get a better deal.  That is one 
thing, but obviously time is of the essence here.

My second question is inspired by comments made earlier by the chief executive of the Irish 
Cancer Society.  Based on the hundreds of hours of discussions we have had about the knock-on 
effects of the overrun on the national children’s hospital, can Dr. Coffey give a commitment that 
no capital programme on the cancer side will be affected?

My third question is on National Cancer Registry Ireland, something I have pursued for 
well over a year.  I was alarmed to hear what had happened regarding the statistical analysis, 
throughput and pathways regarding cervical cancer.  Through engagement with the Minister, 
Deputy Harris, I found out about this almost by accident.  This is not a reflection on National 
Cancer Registry Ireland at all.  Can we be confident that pathways for information flow, the 
necessity for patient permission, and the process by which those who are diagnosed with cancer 
but come into the system from different pathways, have all been looked at dealt with to ensure 
we will not need to go there again?  As a result of the revelation about what went on there, the 
Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland is carrying out a review which was meant to be done long 
ago but will not even be completed this year and we still do not know.  To return to the statistics, 
my third question is whether all that has been dealt with.  Can we guarantee that the HSE, across 
all these areas, has lined up the statistical analyses or pathways with NCRI and that there will 
be no surprises again? 

Dr. Jerome Coffey: The first question was on the time for drug reimbursement in Ireland 
by comparison with the EU average.  I am afraid I do not have any data on that.  We will revert 
to the Deputy with it.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I specifically referred to oncology drugs.

Dr. Jerome Coffey: On capital expenditure, there are a number of projects under way. Alt-
nagelvin opened a couple of years ago.  In Cork, a €50 million project has been handed over by 
the builders and the equipment is in.  There has been no delay.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: It is not just about projects not happening about also about “re-profil-
ing”, which is a famous term used by the Government.  It basically means pushing it down the 
road.  None of this is going to happen with any projects on the cancer side.

Dr. Jerome Coffey: I have heard no suggestion that will happen.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: That is not an answer, to be fair.  For Dr. Coffey to say he has heard no 
suggestion is not to say it is not going to happen.  Who would suggest it?  Surely Dr. he would 
know.
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Dr. Jerome Coffey: I will do my best to make sure it does not happen.

On radiation services in Galway, enabling work is under way.  Construction is to start this 
year.  A design team is examining the extension of the radiation centre in Beaumont Hospital.  
This is all happening and there are no delays or re-profiling in that regard.

The third question was on the cancer registry.  I am on the board of NCRI.  There was a 
considerable volume of work in the second half of last year, and continuing this year, to imple-
ment as quickly as possible nine recommendations from the report.  A data-sharing agreement 
between the HSE and the registry is in place.  There are a number of big issues that the Deputy 
mentioned, including having one source of data or one data repository.  There are discussions 
on how best to do that rather than having multiple sources overlapping or contradicting each 
other.  That is an absolute priority of the registry and HSE.

Deputy  Alan Kelly: I thank Dr. Coffey for that.  I have a final question on NCRI.  The is-
sues were not at that end but at Mr. Coffey’s end, I am sorry to say.  It was seriously alarming.  
Dare I say it, but only for Vicky Phelan, we would still not have known about this.  Probably 
within NCRI, but particularly within the HSE, the lack of awareness was frightening.  I hope 
that has all been dealt with to ensure one standard across the board.  NCRI does good work and 
it is very good that we have it.  It is absolutely necessary and everything is based on the statistics 
the officials behind me produce.  It just has to be prioritised.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I thank the witnesses for attending and for the work in which 
they have been involved.  I wish to take up on one or two points from the previous session.  
Clinical trials are not as readily available outside Dublin and Cork.  What is the reason for that?  
What about Limerick, Waterford, Galway and Letterkenny?  Surely trials should be spread 
across the country in an even-handed way.

Do the witnesses believe the national cancer strategy is working?  This is important because 
the rudiments are in place to make it successful, ensure good outcomes and improve the life 
expectancy of cancer patients considerably.  Everybody asks questions seeking confirmation.  I 
spent many years as a member of the Committee of Public Accounts so I know how that works.  
I am not putting words in the witnesses’ mouths but am seeking a simple, straightforward, hon-
est answer to the question of whether the registry is working.  If so, is it working to the greatest 
extent possible?  Can it be improved?

My next question is important.  Every organisation requires more funding.  The health ser-
vice, in particular, is in need of funding for a variety of reasons, including a lack of action on 
time, a lack of intervention on time, and a failure to provide adequate capital funding on time.  
As a result, there is a backlog.  That is the story of the health services.  I am not suggesting a 
bottomless pit in terms of funding but we have to improve.  Generally, health services here cost 
more than in many other European countries.  That needs to be dealt with that from a public 
consumption perspective.

Somebody said to me some time ago that we had a better system ten years ago, and we did.  
We had more money but we borrowed it.  The country was broke and nobody realised it at the 
time.  That is a fact.  At this stage, we need to spend money carefully and wisely, and we need 
to make it available.  That is our duty but we must keep in mind that we do not want to go back 
to where we were.  The health system, no more than any other aspect of infrastructure, would 
not be capable of withstanding another crash.  We have many challenges, not least of which is 
the need to make adequate provision throughout the health services.
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Mr. Michael Conroy: The national cancer strategy is working.  We have touched on some 
of the prevention measures.  In the past, people accepted the dangers of smoking.  They were 
not as conscious of some of the other dangers associated with cancer, and did not link certain 
lifestyle issues to cancer.  That is changing.  We are bringing out a skin cancer prevention plan 
on 1 May.

With regard to screening, our numbers are up.  The breast screening rate last year was 76%, 
against a target of 70%.  On early diagnosis, people are more aware of cancer.  Increasingly, 
they are being encouraged to follow up on lumps or other symptoms.  Much work is being 
done on the provision of diagnostic equipment in our hospitals to handle the numbers coming 
through.  We can do more. 

On cancer surgery, improvements in outcomes are very marked owing to the centralisation 
of services.  On radiotherapy, Dr. Coffey mentioned the new centre in Cork that will have five 
radiotherapy machines, up from four.  It will open next year.  The building will be finished this 
year and it will be commissioned in the first quarter of next year.  Medical oncology facilities 
are being improved all the time and expanded, bearing in mind that the number of people com-
ing through is increasing.  With regard to the involvement of patients, there is much interaction 
with them, as there was in the drawing up of the strategy.  Patients are our biggest critics in en-
suring that the system is working.  Their views are spurring us on to ensure it continues to work.

I mentioned the robust review mechanisms to be in place with the NCCP, with which we 
work closely.  It is basically a hand-in-glove approach across the Department and NCCP.  The 
NCCP is pushing implementation all the time across the HSE.  We see figures coming through 
all the time.  We try to use any money we get in a judicious way to address any problems.

With regard to funding generally, we will never have enough money.  All areas of the health 
sector and all areas of government always like to have more but what we do have we use very 
well.  We are using funds in a targeted and outcome-oriented way that is followed up and re-
corded, and from which we see the outcomes.  We change allocations in the details to ensure 
that continues to happen.  If something is not working as well, we address that.  

There is a third strategy.  We are building on a good strategy in the second one.  We are into 
a depth of strategy in cancer services, and that will and can be followed in other areas of the 
health sector.

Dr. Jerome Coffey: I thank the Deputy for raising the macroeconomic picture.  In 2006, our 
national debt was €40 billion and, this morning, it was €217.9 billion.  That is a scary number 
in the background that will have to be considered as we invest in healthcare.  I am personally 
biased in that I believe we should find the money to invest by borrowing or whatever because 
we want the better outcomes.  Behind the investment, however, the Government has obligations 
to manage the debt and reduce it over time.  That is the big issue behind many of the constraints 
under which we operate.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: While I am not an economist, I have spent much of my po-
litical life apologising to economists.  The important aspect of debt is that it must be kept at a 
certain level relative to GDP, GNP or whatever measurement one is using, but that ratio has 
changed dramatically as a result of good management.  If steps that were taken at great cost to 
the health services and across the board had not been taken, we would still be in the same posi-
tion but we could quickly find ourselves in that situation again.  We should not forgot that ten 
or 11 years ago, everybody told anybody who wanted to listen that there was no need to worry, 
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that everything would be okay and that we could see the matter out.  It did not happen that way, 
however, and we must be very cautious not to allow it to happen again.

A question arose earlier about the access to cancer treatment.  It has been suggested that 
people have been denied access to cancer treatment due to waiting lists, a lack of beds or a lack 
of other facilities.  Will Dr. Coffey indicate the extent of the problem?  It is an alarming issue 
which has serious consequences for patients’ health.  The Chairman will be glad to know that I 
will have one further question.

Chairman: I might ask a question myself.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: We encourage that sort of thing.

Dr. Jerome Coffey: To provide some brief performance data, I will outline the preliminary 
numbers for January of this year.  For access to urgent breast clinics, there is a ten-day target, 
which was reached in 86.3% of cases.  Within 15 days, however, 97% of women referred are 
seen, which is a significant improvement on previous years and quarters.  For lung cancer clin-
ics, 85%, 92% and 97% of referrals reach the clinic within ten, 15 and 20 working days, respec-
tively, which is good and, while not on target, is close to it.  For rapid access to prostate clinics, 
approximately 85% of men are seen within 20 days while 95% are seen within 30 days, which 
is also a significant improvement on previous years.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: That is important.  As I indicated, I have another question but 
I will wait until the end of the discussion.

Chairman: To return to some issues that were raised earlier, on cancer prevention in respect 
of smoking and alcohol intake, the Public Health (Alcohol) Act 2018 is now on the Statute 
Book and affects minimum unit pricing, advertising and the display of alcohol in shops and 
supermarkets.  While it will take some time to be fed through into the system, it is positive.  
There are smoking-related targets for 2025 but we are not meeting them.  I acknowledge that 
the incidence of smoking is reducing but, to the best of my knowledge, we are far behind our 
target for 2025.

On screening and early detection, in the cervical cancer programme, unfortunately, only 
80% of women will take up the option of a free cervical smear test.  Dr. Coffey referred to the 
rise in breast screening tests from 70% to 75%.  How can we increase those figures, given that 
it is a substantial gap in the cancer programme if we cannot recruit 100% participation?  The 
Government had proposed to introduce HPV testing of cervical smears in October of last year 
but that has yet to happen and, according to what I have heard from the Minister for Health, it 
may not happen this year.  Dr. Coffey might comment on that.  On a related issue, there is the 
unfortunate backlog of cervical screening, stretching back to more than six months in some 
cases.  How can that be addressed and how is it being considered by the HSE?

On the treatment of cancer, there is a patchiness of access to oncology treatment and radio-
therapy in parts of the country.  In the mid-west, I am aware of a problem with access to radio-
therapy, in particular, as well as to oncology.  I invite Dr. Coffey to comment on those points.

Mr. Michael Conroy: I might first take the question on smoking.  The interim key perfor-
mance indicator target in the cancer strategy has been met in respect of the percentage of adults, 
that is, those over the age of 15, who smoke.  At the end of 2018, 17% of the group smoked 
daily, which was in line with the target and which represented a fall in the number of smokers 
from 19% in 2016.  The aim is to reach 5%, which is considered tobacco free, by 2025, but the 
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target that was set out in the strategy was met last year.

Chairman: The target of 5%, however, as outlined for 2025, will not be met.

Mr. Michael Conroy: That is a matter of opinion but it is moving in the right direction 
and many strides have been made.  In European terms, apart from the UK, we are the top EU 
country in this regard.  By international standards, our performance is considered very good.

Chairman: On reducing tobacco smoking, does the Department have an opinion on the 
substitution of vaping to reduce the incidence of smoking-related cancer?

Mr. Michael Conroy: I will have to revert to the committee in that regard.  I have asked the 
question myself.  The general approach is that it is considered to be better than smoking tobacco 
but I am not sure whether we have a policy position at this point.

Dr. Jerome Coffey: To reply to the questions that the Chairman asked about screening 
uptake, while the numbers for breast screening and cervical screening are close to the target, it 
has been identified as a real problem.  Trying to persuade people who do not want to undergo 
a test in a freely accessible service that it might save their lives is a challenge.  It is important 
to distinguish between colorectal screening.  The target is low and it is hard to reach but that is 
in line with the international experience.  For some reason, people are happier to go for mam-
mograms, Papanicolaou smears or HPV testing than have a faecal immunochemical test, faecal 
occult blood test or scope.  Despite best efforts and impressive media campaigns in this country, 
it is a struggle to reach the targets, but I am not sure what are the international reasons for that.

I am not directly involved in the introduction of HPV testing and, therefore, I do not know 
the date for the introduction of the service or how the backlog is being addressed.  I will, how-
ever, have the screening service convey that information to the committee.

On radiotherapy and the access to cancer treatment services, I mentioned the investment 
in radiotherapy in the north west, Cork and Galway, but the service will start perhaps a couple 
of years before the new centre is built.  It is intended to meet future needs and will have state-
of-the-art technology.  In Dublin, there has been significant progress over the past decade.  In 
the mid-west and the south east, we buy from the private sector and those services, which have 
been in place for a period, are excellent.  The machines in Limerick and Waterford are at the 
end of a ten-year life cycle and, therefore, the question is how best to replace them while also 
potentially increasing capacity in order that people will not have to wait.  Work is ongoing in 
that regard and we will probably have visible progress on the decisions and investment.

Mr. Michael Conroy: The National Cancer Screening Service has targeted its efforts at the 
groups that are hardest to reach to involve them in screening and I acknowledge the help of the 
Irish Cancer Society, ICS, in that regard.  There is much interaction among the State, the ICS 
and others.  Sometimes, the people one might expect to need screening the most are the people 
who are the last to come forward.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Several years ago, I mounted a campaign for increased labo-
ratory facilities.  We need enhanced laboratory facilities that are adequate to meet the present 
and growing population, which we do not currently have.  It should be an urgent objective, par-
ticularly in the light of the cervical tests and the delays associated with them.  We know that the 
practices were wrong because there was a practice of not telling the patients what the story was, 
which is appalling in any circumstances.  It caused undue stress and anxiety for the patients, but 
the patient should surely be the most important person in the equation.
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The smear test system has been in operation for ten or 12 years.  When it was introduced, 
some of us had doubts.  We were sold on it because it had the ability to save the lives of a con-
siderable number of women, which it has done.  It had an accuracy rating of approximately 
80% then and it is still no more than that.  Given the accuracy rating and the apparent lack of 
information prevalent in the system, it was a bad system in terms of the capacity of patients to 
have confidence in it.  The theory was that information was withheld from patients because it 
would have undermined public confidence in the system.  Which comes first, however?  Is it the 
need to assure the patient of absolute certainty that the laboratory to which her test is referred is 
doing its job, is accurate and that results are followed up?  I ask Dr. Coffey to comment on that 
and on the laboratory facilities, the methodology used and the need for the alternative system 
which is coming into vogue soon.

Dr. Jerome Coffey: I am happy to take that.  The way to look at this is that Dr. Scally’s 
report of September 2018 set out clear recommendations which were, in effect, instructions and 
those are being worked on at the moment.  That is all going to change in terms of HPV testing 
versus cytology and all the rest of it.  The broader point on laboratory capacity comes back 
to the rate of change in science.  I worked in a genetics laboratory for two years but if I went 
back there now, I would be fairly useless.  Even since the middle of the last decade, things have 
changed.  As such, we need to plan for a high-end diagnostics service in Ireland for cancer pa-
tients whether it is screening, germ line genetics or tumour genetic sequencing.  The UK made 
that major investment decision a couple of years ago and is mainstreaming genomic medicine.  
We know what we want to do and we need to plan and invest in it quickly.  That will encom-
pass all areas of cancer diagnostics.  It is an exciting time.  If one looks at researchers, there is 
a great deal of activity in the universities here.  We need to have equivalent levels of activity in 
the clinical services we provide to patients in the hospitals.

Chairman: I thank our guests and apologise for the delay in commencing the session.  This 
is a topic of immense interest and it needs continual development.  The committee will certainly 
be returning to it in the not-too-distant future.  I thank Dr. Ana M. Terrés, head of research 
and development at the HSE, Dr. Jerome Coffey of the national cancer control programme at 
the HSE, Mr. Michael Conroy, principal officer in the cancer policy unit at the Department of 
Health, Ms Judith Corcoran, assistant principal officer in the cancer policy unit at the Depart-
ment of Health, Ms Teresa Maguire, head of research services at the Department of Health, and 
Mr. Kevin Byrne, executive officer in the Department of Health for attending.

The joint committee adjourned at 1.25 p.m. until 9 a.m. on Wednesday, 3 April 2019.


